INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand comer and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

ProQuest Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600



Learner Perceived Productivity Within an On-site and an On-line Collaborative Learning Environment: A Case Study

Jennifer Sclater

A Thesis

In

The Department

Of Education

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the requirements
For the Degree of Master of Arts (Educational Technology)
Concordia University
Montreal, Quebec, Canada

April 2003

©Jennifer Sclater, 2003



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your life Votre référence

Our life Notre référence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-77922-X



ABSRACT

Learner Perceived Productivity Within an On-Site and an On-Line Collaborative Learning Environment: A Case Study

Jennifer Sclater

Is collaborating on-line more productive than collaborating face-to-face? This case study is an exploration of the effectiveness of face-to-face and computer supported collaboration. More specifically learner attitudes towards the use of on-line and on-site collaborative learning within an undergraduate course on integrating technology into the classroom at Concordia University are explored. Learner reflections kept throughout the semester is analyzed to determine whether certain elements of collaboration, namely (a) efficiency, (b) group management, and (c) task process, are more productive within an on-line or on-site collaborative learning environment. Findings suggest that learners do perceive that some elements of collaboration are best suited to an on-line learning environment.

Acknowledgements

So many people to thank! First to my parents, for making the choices and sacrifices they made. I am the person I am today because they decided that my brother and I come first. To Jay and Jeff for the support and confidence that I could do this. Thanks to the four of you for putting up with me through this process and helping me in everyway possible. To the rest of my family and friends who contributed the little things that kept me going throughout my studies (the rewards - mushrooms and cones; the distractions - 'children'; a trip to Toronto; the encouragement that no matter how long this thesis was, anything over twenty pages was quite an accomplishment; and most of all the expressions of pride, confidence and support).

Thanks to my committee members. Allyson for her guidance early in the process, Steve for making me think and questioning my practice, Phil, for always challenging my beliefs about teaching and learning, and Bob, for recruiting me, helping me understand whatever it was I was trying to do here and encouraging me that I could complete it.

To my other committee - Gretchen, Vivek and Mariam, for the laughter, "debriefing". understanding, support and encouragement, which made me appreciate that I truly was not alone in this process. I have never felt as though I have really belonged anywhere as I did in Ed Tech. I would like to thank all of the friends that I have made along the way, my profs for making this such a wonderful learning experience, to Stef for giving me the *carte-blanche* when it came to FirstClass and supporting all the cocamany ideas I had for integrating technology into my class, and to Anne Brown, the heart and soul of Ed Tech, for always being there.

To our learners in EDUC 305 over the last three years, who have allowed me to grow as an educator and truly experience theory into practice. I thank them for their patience, commitment and enthusiasm.

Finally, and most importantly, to my teacher, mentor, guide and most of all my friend,
Laura, who saw something in this sarcastic undergraduate, who assured me that Ed Tech was
where I should be and took me under her wing. Words cannot express the gratitude, respect and
admiration I have for you and how much I appreciate the time and energy you not only invested
in helping me with this thesis, but through every step of the way. Thanks to Laura and Bob I was
given the opportunity to teach this wonderful course and further explore and understand my
calling in life.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Overview	l
Chapter 1: Introduction	4
The context	4
Instructional design	5
Learning environment	5
Instructional method	8
Constructivism	9
Learning activities	15
Collaboration	15
Promoting collaborative learning	21
Reflective practices	23
Why use reflective practices	
Chapter 2: This Study and its Purpose	25
Why use collaborative learning	25
Computer supported collaborative learning	26
Personal background	
My experience as a learner	29
Practice into theory: My experience as an instructor	30
On-site versus on-line	31
Research questions	32
Using a mixed-method research design & case studies	33
Chapter 3: Planning	35
Learners and consent for participation	35
Data collection	36
Learner interaction	37
Research design	39
A within condition case analysis	41
A cross condition case analysis	
Chapter 4: Implementation	42
Participation	
Consent	42
Pseudonyms	43
Data collection	43
Excluded data	44
Method of analysis: Qualitative	46
Content analysis	
Method of analysis: Quantitative	
Chapter 5: Results	
Test 1: Perceived attitudes towards on-line & on-site collaborative learning	

lest 2: Order effect on overall attitudes towards on-site & on-l	ine collaboration 54
Test 3: Perceived effectiveness of collaboration in on-line & or	n-site environment 59
Test 4: Order effect on perceived effectiveness of various elem	ents of collaboration. 64
Chapter 6: Discussion and implications	67
Efficiency	
Group management	
Task process	
On-line versus face-to-face	
Implications	
Conclusion	
References	78
Appendix A: Description of research	82
Appendix B: Consent form	84
Appendix C: Code book	87

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1: WebCT versus FirstClass
Table 1.2: Psychological constructivism versus social constructivism
Table 1.3: Black & McClintock's seven principles of study design
Table 1.4: Description of and rationale for learning activities
Table 1.5: Forum 4 rubric for self and peer assessment
Table 1.6: Calculating individual contributions for collaborative activities
Table 3.1: Counterbalanced design for collaborative learning activities
Table 3.2: Data collection – timeline and description
Table 4.1: List of participants according to forum membership
Table 4.2: Learning Logs 8 & 12 and environment
Table 4.3: Coding themes
Table 4.4: Summary of alternative hypotheses
Table 5.0: Frequencies of learner responses
Table 5.1: Attitudes towards on-line and on-site collaboration
Table 5.2: Order effect – attitudes towards on-site & on-line collaboration
Table 5.2.1: Order effect – positive & negative attitudes towards on-site collaboration 56
Table 5.2.2: Order effect – positive & negative attitudes towards on-site collaboration 57
Table 5.2.3: Order effect – positive attitudes towards on-line collaboration 58
Table 5.2.4: Order effect – negative attitudes towards on-line collaboration 58
Table 5.3: Attitudes towards elements of collaboration (on-line & on-site)60
Table 5.3.1: Attitudes towards efficiency – on-line & on-site
Table 5.3.2: Attitudes towards group management – on-line & on-site
Table 5.3.3: Attitudes towards task process – on-line & on-site
Table 5.4: Order effect on perceived effectiveness of elements of collaboration65

TABLE OF FIGURES

Figure 3.1: Within condition case analysis	41
Figure 3.2: Cross condition case analysis	41

OVERVIEW

This case study is an exploration of the effectiveness of face-to-face and computer supported collaboration. The presentation of this project reflects Miles' (1990) outline for a pre-structured case. According to Miles, this method begins with the researcher developing a conceptual framework for the study, along with a set of research questions. The requirements for this stage of the process were satisfied in the proposal document for this thesis research. Miles (1990) recommends that the researcher then (a) develop instruments to reflect the research questions, (b) select a sample, and finally, (c) create a case outline.

This study took place within the context of *Technology for Educational Change*, an undergraduate course, offered on-site as well as on-line, designed to introduce students to the theory, research and practice of integrating alternative instructional methods and supporting the integration of technology into the classroom. Data collection instruments used in this study were part of the instructional design of *Technology for Educational Change*. Although these learning activities were created prior to the development of my research questions, I was confident that, with minor adjustments, they would capture the data of interest for this study. This belief was due to the fact that effectiveness of collaboration had been an area of interest of mine upon entering the Masters program. This focus had influenced adjustments I had made to the learning activities over a three-year period as instructor of the course.

Miles (1990) suggests that considerations about sampling should go beyond "sites and actors, in terms of the range of site specific events, settings, times and processes that need to be included" (p.43). All of these factors were easily addressed, since I assumed

the dual role of instructor and researcher, and therefore could undertake full control of when, where and how sampling and data collection were conducted. Finally, Miles (1990) suggests that the case outline be created prior to the collection of data. However, given time constraints and the availability of data this was not possible. Instead, the case outline was drawn up only once the course was in progress and while learners were completing the tasks that would provide as the data for this study. According to Miles, the case outline should include (a) the context, (b) an overview of what is being planned, (c) why this is being explored, (d) planning, (e) implementation, (f) results, (g) why these results, and (h) lessons for improving.

This document will mirror Miles' (1990) case outline. Chapter 1 establishes the context for the study and describes the design of *Technology for Educational Change*, which is the course used for data collection. Literature supporting the course design is also included.

Although Miles (1990) separates the overview of what is being studied and the justification for the study, I felt that this was too constricting and interrupted the flow of the material presented. Therefore, Chapter 2 includes a description of the study as well as a justification for undertaking it. Reference to literature supporting the study is interwoven throughout the chapter.

Chapter 3 describes the planning stage of the study. The research design, description of data collection instruments and method of analysis are discussed. The chapter also includes a description of the participants in the study and the method used for obtaining consent.

Chapter 4 describes how the actual study was carried out. The process undertaken to complete the study is described in detail, including the handling of consenting participants, reasons for including and excluding data, and the method of analysis for qualitative and quantitative data.

Chapter 5 presents the results of the quantitative data analysis as well as the qualitative analysis that supports the findings. Seven hypotheses were explored in answering the research questions posed. The statistical analyses in the form of chi-square tests are presented for each hypothesis. Chapter 6 presents the discussion of these results. This is followed by a discussion of the implications for future research and practice.

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

The Context

EDUC 305: Technology for Educational Change is a three-credit undergraduate course intended for pre-service teachers enrolled in Early Childhood Education (ECE), Child studies, Art Education and/or Teaching English as a Second Language (TESL), at Concordia University. However, the course frequently attracts students from faculties other than education given the topical subject matter emphasizing the use of technology in education. The course is designed to introduce students to the theory, research and practice of integrating alternative instructional methods and supporting the integration of technology into the classroom. The topics covered in the course range from philosophies of learning and teaching, collaborative/cooperative learning, distance education, assessment practices, learning and teaching using visual representations, and the use of instructional video.

Technology for Educational Change is offered both at a distance (DE) and oncampus (on-site). The on-site section tends to attract students from the Department of
Education. Alternatively, the DE section is more diverse in its composition, frequently
including students from all four faculties (John Molson School of Business, Faculty of
Arts and Science, Faculty of Engineering and Computer Science and Faculty of Fine
Arts). Although the learner population is quite diverse across the sections of the course,
the pedagogical approach and course design of both sections is parallel. All assignments,
assessment practices, readings and supporting materials are the same for both sections.
Truly the only difference between the two is that learners in the DE section never meet

face-to-face (aside from an optional orientation session during the first week of the semester).

Instructional Design

Learning Environment

Both the distance and on-site sections of *Technology for Educational Change* make extensive use of FirstClass®, a computer conferencing application. While all course material, discussions and interaction is conducted exclusively though FirstClass® for the DE section, the learners in the on-site section use the courseware to retrieve required readings, interact with the course instructor and peers between class sessions. and submit assignments. Using an on-line learning environment to the extent to which it is used in *Technology for Educational Change* requires substantial consideration in choice of courseware and in designing the interface for the learning environment.

The Department of Education at Concordia University adopted FirstClass® as its primary courseware and Intranet client in 1995. From a technical support standpoint. FirstClass® was a natural choice for the purposes of course delivery, since the infrastructure had been well established. Although WebCT® was also available for use at the university at that time, it did not possess the same functionality in terms of the organization and monitoring capabilities in regard to communication. Whereas FirstClass® was designed as a computer conferencing tool, WebCT® was designed as a course management tool to which communication functionality was added. This reality represents a distinct difference between these two applications. These differences in functionality were underlined in an evaluation of WebCT® conducted by The Centre for Teaching and Learning Services (CTLS) at Concordia University in 2001. At that time

WebCT® communication functionality was examined to determine whether it contained the communication tools necessary to optimally support an on-line forum for faculty. The results of the CTLS comparative analysis of WebCT® and FirstClass® communication capabilities are presented in Table 1.1 (modified from CTLS, 2001, p. 40). Software functionalities are identified in the first column of the table. A description of the expression of each functionality across both WebCT® and FirstClass® applications appear in the second and third column, respectively.

The literature (Turoff, 1999; Lowell & Perschitte, 2000; Kaye, 1995) suggests that when selecting courseware to support computer supported collaborative learning (CSCL), it is important that the tool offer learners as many options as possible for communication, such as email, conferences, synchronous chat and bulletin boards. FirstClass® incorporates both synchronous (chat function) and asynchronous (private email and conferences) capabilities for communication. Since the purpose of the course is to provide pre-service teachers with the experience and knowledge of a variety of media and techniques for learning and teaching, learners are encouraged to experiment with the synchronous and asynchronous tools built into FirstClass®. This being said, students are cautioned to limit their reliance on synchronous communication for reasons of both flexibility and software functionality. Learners in the past have commented that it can be more difficult to orchestrate synchronous group meetings. This is an important consideration, especially for DE learners, as many decide to take the course at a distance due to the flexibility of this format offers. Flexibility aside, functionality is another consideration. The 'chat' function in FirstClass® is less sophisticated than the

Table 1.1 WebCT versus FirstClass

So	ftware	T			
	inctionality	WebCT	FirstClass		
	Creation of sub- folders	Yes - in the form of discussion threads. A maximum of 4 sub-folders can be created.	Yes – in the form of unlimited creation of conferences/sub-conferences, folders/sub-folders.		
Administrative Issues		Designer/Instructor: Customize environment, post assignments, reading material, and create quizzes assignment of co- designer privileges. Read all postings remove any posting, access and contribute to "grade book". Co-designer: Read all postings, access and contribute to "grade book". Student: Access and post to areas within the environment for which student has been given access to. Access to personal grades and quizzes.	Disallowed: No access to a given conference. Summary: Can only open the conference to view contents, but cannot open items. Browser: Open conference and open items. Reader: Open conference, search items, open items, save attachments, and view message history. Contributor: Open conference, search items, send items, open items, save attachments, view permissions, and view message history. Approver: Approve items, open conference, search, send, and open items, save attachments, view permissions, and message history. Moderator: Delete, edit, and approve items, open conference, search, send, and open items, save attachments, view permissions, and message history. Creator: Create sub-conferences, delete, edit, and approve items, open conference, search, send, and open items, save attachments, view permissions and read only items. Create sub-conferences, delete, edit, and approve items, open conference, search, send and open items. Create sub-conferences, delete, edit, and approve items, open conference, search, send and open items, save attachments. View permissions and message history. Custom: All permissions can easily be customized for any user.		
	Calendar function	Available	Available		
	Creation of customized forms/templates	Available	Available but also flexibility in terms of characteristics included in the design of the conference.		
Messaging	Easily editable text	Users must "code" in HTML any changes in font that could allow the reader of their messages to easily distinguish added comments.	Changes to font colour, style and size is done very similarly to word processing applications, such as Word.		
Mess	Send and save attachments	Available	Available		
	Integrated email capacity	Available	Available		
	Message history function Not available		Available		

other synchronous tools that learners are used to (such as MSN Messenger and ICQ). For example, many of the synchronous chat applications learners often use in their private lives offer the user the ability to see when the person they are chatting with is typing. FirstClass® does not offer this type of functionality, which can make using the chat function with four people very confusing, and difficult to follow.

For many learners, the use of courseware is a new phenomenon. For this reason, it is imperative that the design or the CSCL interface be intuitive. In short, the on-line learning environment must be designed in such a way as to facilitate the learning processes not hinder it. Something as simple as labeling the different areas of the learning environment to relate to its purpose can make it easier for learners to navigate within the environment and to decide what goes where (Kaye, 1995; Turoff, 1999). For example, all course readings and resources are located in the conference labeled 'Course Library,' the area where learners can ask questions or post responses to questions is the 'Help' conference, the 'Drop-box' is where learners submit their assignments, and learner grades and assigned groups, are in the 'Admin' conference.

Instructional Method

Teach as you expect them to teach. I believe that a major downfall of many courses intended for pre-service teachers is that the approach to delivery is contrary to what is being taught. Prospective teachers usually bring preconceived ideas and attitudes about how to teach, which often influence their decisions regarding how content should be taught, typically being teacher-centered (Barnett, et al., 2002). I believe this could be attributed to our experiences as learners. We resort to teaching as we were taught. We

expect teachers to adopt a learner-centred philosophy, with a focus on open discourse, collaboration and the integration of technology; however, few faculty members do practice what they preach. Many of us continue to lecture to students, and engage them in decontextualized activities, which we expect them to complete individually.

Constructivism

This move away from teacher-centeredness is characteristic of the adoption of a constructivist philosophy to teaching and learning. A constructivist approach to learning is centered on the notion of high student participation in the learning process, which consequently is a shift away from a highly teacher structured environment (Sotillo, 2000). Constructivism engages learners in collaborative construction of knowledge, rather than the transfer or reproduction of knowledge, which is typical of a traditional learning context (Duffy & Cunningham, 1996; Jonassen, 1991; Sotillo, 2000; Tam, 2000; Weasenforth, et al., 2002). This contradicts the traditional philosophy of the instructor as the sole receptacle of knowledge. "From a learning perspective, we do not assume that the learners will 'acquire' the expert's meaning, and hence we do not seek a transmission approach to instruction" (Duffy & Cunningham, 1996, p. 172).

By encouraging individual construction of knowledge, learners may maintain very different ideas about truth and meaning. These different interpretations are conceived based on learner experiences with the world and their beliefs about these experiences (Jonassen, 1991; Tam, 2000). This, however, does not mean that constructivism encourages an 'anything goes' attitude. Rather, learners must learn to justify their positions and interpretations (Duffy & Cunningham, 1996; Tam, 2000). Learners are

engaged in group discussions that provide them with the opportunity to share and adapt their meanings through discussion (Tam, 2000). This being said, learners are not expected to assume a shared meaning, "within the constructivist framework there is a seeking of compatibility, a lack of contradiction between views" (Duffy & Cunningham, 1996, p. 171). I often explain this to my learners, as we are not looking for groupthink, we are looking for a way of incorporating the different meanings and understandings in a way that does not lose individual perspectives or interpretations.

Establishing a learning environment and learning tasks that exploit opportunity for discussion is essential. Collaboration is central to this process. Through collaboration, learners are provided with the opportunity to put their understanding to the test and refine their understanding in an ongoing process (Tam, 2000). Knowledge is then used to solve problems that are personally meaningful and appropriate to the levels of complexity (Tam, 2000; Jonassen, 1991) as well as allow learners to select appropriate levels of difficulty or involvement (Jonassen, 1991). Learning activities within a constructivist philosophy must, therefore, (a) engage learners in contextualized authentic tasks (Weasenforth, et al., 2002) that are rooted in real-world relevance, and that are integrated across the curriculum (Jonassen, 1991), (b) provide learners with the opportunity to assume ownership of knowledge (Weasenforth, et al., 2002), and (c) stimulate exploration and thoughtful reflection, which is necessary for knowledge construction (Tam, 2000; Weasenforth, et al., 2002). The learning climate must therefore, "create a social context in which collaboration creates a sense of community, and that teachers and students are active participants in the learning process" (Tam, 2000, p.51). Jonassen (1991) further suggests that the learning environment should support multiple

perspectives through context-rich experience-based activities to reflect the various interpretations of reality and knowledge construction that learners may possess.

The term constructivism is often defined and characterized similarly to above, however there are two types of constructivism that are generally outlined; social constructivism, which draws from the works of Vygotsky and Leont'ev, and psychological or cognitive constructivism, which draws from the works of Piaget and von Glaserfeld (Duffy & Cunningham, 1996). My approach to course design and delivery can be characterized as one of social constructivism. Social and psychological constructivist approach to learning can be differentiated across a variety of characteristics (Duffy & Cunningham, 1996; Habdal-Haqq, 1998). A comparison between these two constructivist approaches is provided in Table 1.2. The characteristics that differentiate these two approaches are identified in the first column of the table. How these characteristics are expressed in psychological and social constructivist approaches is detailed in the second and third column respectively.

According to Abdal-Haqq (1998),

Programs influenced by social reconstructionist tradition attempts to help teacher education students deconstruct their prior knowledge and attitudes, comprehend how these understandings evolved, explore the effects they have on actions and behavior, and consider alternate conceptions and premises that may be more serviceable in teaching.

Since the course is designed to model "best practices" for integrating technology into the classroom, I believe that it is important for my students to understand why I have made the pedagogical design decisions I have. In my opinion, to become great educators who will successfully integrate different media and teaching approaches into their practice,

Table 1.2. Psychological Constructivism versus Social Constructivism

Characteristics	Psychological Constructivism	Social Constructivism	
Purpose	Educating the individual learner in such a way that it supports the learner's interests and needs	Education for social transformation	
Subject	The learner Dialectical relationship between the individual and the social and cultural milestone		
Emphasis	Individual cognitive development	Individual development derived from social interaction	
Assumption	Learners come to a learning context with ideas, beliefs & opinions that require altering or modification by the instructor	Theory and practice are shaped by dominant cultural assumptions	
Tasks	Discovery learning and hands-on activities	Exposing, critiquing and altering the cultural assumptions, power relationships and historical influences	

students need to do more than just read about theory, they need opportunities to engage in the expression of theory in practice. According to Schon (1987), becoming a "professional" or part of a community of practitioners involves (a) taking our "intelligent action" (our know-how) that we have acquired, (b) exploring it through "spontaneous, skillful execution of the performance" and finally (c) reflecting on these actions to make them explicit (p. 25). Schon suggests that it is only through the reflection phase of the process that we are able to make the implicit explicit, which in turn may help in creating ones' own "theory" of action. A Theory of Action is created through interacting with

other people, adopting certain behaviours as a result of these interactions and holding a theory for behaving/interacting in this way (Argyris & Schon, 1974). "These theories of action, as we have called them, include the values, strategies and underlying assumptions that inform individuals' patterns of interpersonal behavior" (Schon, 1987).

In the instructional design of EDUC: 305 Technology for Educational Change, I adopt a cyclical educational approach. This approach is consistent with Black and McClintock's (1994) seven principles of study design within a constructivist framework. An overview of this framework is provided in Table 1.3. Black and McClintock's principles appear in the first column of the table. A description of activities associated with each principle appears in the second column of the table. Finally, the third column of the table includes parallels between each principle and the course design. Within this context, learners in Technology for Educational Change are first introduced to concepts through recent meaningful literature. This is followed by group discussion and modeling of these concepts, including practical examples and activities. Finally, learners are required to engage in personal reflection about how they might incorporate these concepts into their own teaching practices. These activities, as well as supporting evidence for their significance are further described in the following sections.

Table 1.3 Black & McClintock's (1994) Seven Principles of Study Design

Principles Description of Activity within each principle		Technology for Educational Change	
1) Text	Learners are presented with various materials.	Learners are provided with a course library of recent journal articles, from a variety of disciplines.	
2) Context	Learners are provided with open- ended access to contextual resources that will help them interpret the material.	Learners are encouraged to find and share their own resources with their classmates. Learners are provided with many different resources (journal articles, application user manuals, job aids, etc.)	
3) Engagement	Material presented is situated in such a way that is becomes personally meaningful, which in turn helps with interpretation.	Learners are encouraged to share experiences from their own learning and make connections between the material covered and these learning and professional experiences.	
4) Cooperation	Learners "collaborate" with peers.	Learners are engaged in two collaborative activities.	
5) Inclusivity	Instructor models best practice, but coaches and supports learners in their own efforts.	The course design and delivery models a constructivist philosophy, which is at the core of the course.	
6) Abstraction	Learners are encouraged to share prior experiences to the learning task to prepare them to transfer their interpretive skills.	The first collaborative activity begins by having learners reflect on a prior learning experience as the basis for the transformation from a directed learning context to a constructivist one. Learners are required to maintain a Learning Log, whereby they reflect on their learning experiences (prior and current), reflect on how the course content relates to their learning experiences and how this will inform their future practice.	
7) Diversity	Complex problems are situated within different contexts so that learners develop the ability of understanding things from many points of view.	Learners are encouraged to think critically about the course material and subject matter, whether it is in in-class discussions or in answering questions posed as part of the weekly learning logs.	

Learning Activities

Technology for Educational Change, as I teach it, involves learners in two types of instructional activities: (a) collaborative learning, and (b) personal reflection. Over the course of the thirteen-week semester, learners are engaged in two collaborative activities and maintain a personal learning log. A description of and rationale for each learning activity is provided in Table 1.4. Learning activities are identified in the first column of the table. A description of each task appears in the second column. The type of activity is designated in column three and a rationale for each is presented in the final column.

Collaboration

In my opinion, constructivist and learner-centred philosophical approaches include the use of collaboration. Much recent literature supports the integration of collaborative activities as essential components of this pedagogical orientation (e.g. Abrami & Bures, 1996; Bernard, et al, 2000; Brandon & Hollingshead, 1999 Chui, 2000; Clark, 2000; Cockrell, et al, 2000; 1999; Feather, 1999; Hiltz, 1998; Towns, et al, 2000). However, there appears to be little consensus as to how it might be labeled and defined. Terms such as group work (Huxam & Land, 2000; Turoff, 1999), small-group learning (Towns, et al, 2000), teamwork (Goby & Lewis, 2000) and most commonly, cooperative learning, are used to refer to the act of working with at least one other person to accomplish a task.

Table 1.4 Descriptions of and rationale for learning activities

Learning Activity	Description of task	Type of Activity	Rationale
Initial log-in and introduction	Each learner posts biographical "welcome" message to Welcome conference in FirstClass.	Individual activity, posted within FirstClass and included in learning log.	a) encourages development of a sense of communityb) means for grouping students for the collaborative activities.
Benchmark	Description of the prior knowledge, experience and expertise with course content.	Individual activity, learning log entry.	Benchmark prior knowledge to facilitate the reflection process.
Learning Log entries (semi- weekly)	Document challenges encountered during the week and resolutions arrived at. Respond to guiding questions posted by instructor based on course readings/discussions.	Individual activity, learning log entry.	a) support reflective process b) Instructor's diagnostic tool used to identify areas of confusion or need for further explanation of course material c) space for learners to identify challenges and concerns with the course.
Collaborative Activity 1:	Comparative analysis between directed instructional approaches and a constructivist framework. Individual and collaborative activity	Document individual experience of directed instruction, collaboratively convert one to a more constructivist approach, and compete self and peer assessment.	Associate prior experience with new theory. "Through participation in collaborative discussions, preservice teachers are able to articulate and reflect upon their beliefs and evolving classroom practice." (Barnett, et al., 2002)
Collaborative Activity 2	Design a learning activity involving computers.	Collaboratively design phase and self and peer assessment.	Provide learners with an activity that allows them to put everything that they have learned into a product that they may actually be able to use.
Self and Peer Assessment	Learners assess themselves and each peer in their group based on a set of criterion. The average of peer and self assessed contribution scores are factored into calculating each learner's final grade.	Individual assessment of self and peers	 a) A means of giving each learner a grade based on what he/she actually contributed to the group effort. b) promote responsibility for their own learning as well as that of their peers. c) Provide pre-service teachers with authentic assessment experiences.
Reflection Paper	Learners review Benchmark and Learning Log entries in order to answer a series of guiding questions about their learning experience.	Individual activity	Guided self-reflection of individual learning outcomes and experiences.

Many authors use the terms cooperative and collaborative learning interchangeably (e.g. Abrami & Bures, 1996; Towns, et al, 1998; Chui, 2000), where others have defined a clear distinction between the two terms (e.g. Abrami, et al., 1995; Bernard, et al, 2000; Bruffee, 1995; Matthews, et al, 1995; Panitz 1997; Roshelle & Teasley 1995). While both cooperative and collaborative learning involve learners being engaged in working with other learners in the completion of a task, they can be distinguished in the following two ways; (a) the structure of the learning activity, and (b) the power structure between learners and the course instructor.

Within a cooperative learning environment, learning tasks are highly structured by the teacher and students complete the task simply by dividing the workload, and bringing individual parts together to create the whole (Abrami, et al., 1995; Bernard, et al., 2000; Brandon & Hollingshead, 1999; Cockrell, et al., 2000; Matthews, et al., 1995). In contrast, collaborative learning activities rely more on the learners to initiate and orchestrate their joint efforts. Furthermore, students continually work together to solve a problem or complete an assignment. (Abrami, et al., 1995; Bernard, et al., 2000; Brandon & Hollingshead, 1999; Cockrell, et al., 2000; Matthews, et al., 1995). This does not mean learners do not have some sort of division of labour within the context of a collaborative learning activity. Learners do assume roles, however, their contributions are not restricted to these roles. All group members are expected or required to continuously contribute and work towards the common group goal. For example, individual learners may assume the role of researcher, editor, and writer/compiler, yet all members should be involved in the on going researching, writing and editing of a group paper.

These differences between cooperation and collaboration lead to a restructuring of the power relationship between learners and educators. While the teacher remains the 'boss' within a cooperative environment, in a collaborative orientation the learner assumes more responsibility for decision-making. Establishing a collaborative learning climate also emphasizes "purposeful talk" and requires openness and shared responsibility between learners and teachers (Abrami, et al., 1995). Therefore, for collaboration to work effectively it is necessary to provide learners with an environment that encourages open dialogue and where learners feel comfortable expressing themselves.

Within the context of *Technology for Educational Change*, I have established an environment that is more collaborative than cooperative in nature. However, I recognize the way in which my learners engage in 'group work' does not completely conform to pure collaboration as characterized above. The learning activities are not highly structured, in that learners have the freedom to decide how they will approach the task at hand, which is very characteristic of collaborative learning. Learners are, however, assigned to groups as opposed to assignment through self-selection. Although much of the literature I reviewed on collaborative learning seemed to support instructor formed groups (Bernard & Lundgren-Cayrol, 2001; Chui, 2000; Cockrell, et al., 2000; Feather, 1999; Towns, 1998; Towns, et al., 2000; Turoff, 1999), it has been my personal experience that self-selected grouping is the most common approach used by instructors. This often results in problems within the group dynamic and could account for the pessimistic feelings many learners have about working collaboratively for grades. Huxam and Land (2000) suggest that this phenomenon may be due to the lack of skills needed to

work in groups. According to them, "Without explicit instruction in and practice of these skills, many groups will not operate well" (p. 17). A possible solution could be found in the engineering of groups. If instructors can form collaborative groups of compatible or complementary individuals this conflicting group dynamic might be avoided.

The power structure in Technology for Educational Change is characteristic of a collaborative learning environment, where open-dialogue among learners and between learners and the course instructor is central to the success of the course. Opportunities for discussion and the sharing of opinions are built into the course design. Moore (1998) identifies three types of interaction in a DE learning environment (a) learner- learner, (b) learner-content, and (c) learner- instructor. These types of interaction are facilitated in the course design through the creation of course conferences to serve these specific needs. For example, learner-learner interaction is promoted by providing learners with (a) the 'Help' conference where learners can post questions and respond to each other's queries. and (b) the 'Groups' conferences, created specifically for each collaborative group but open to all learners enrolled in the course. The learner-instructor interaction is promoted through the use of personal learning logs where learners are encouraged to share their feelings about the course and course content on an on-going basis. The public course conference areas provide a space where interaction among all participants is encouraged, including students, instructor and the teaching assistant. Finally, the 'Course Library' conference contains all course readings and supplementary resources (e.g. user manuals, study guides), which would constitute the learner-content interaction, especially since learners are encouraged to share resources by placing them in the 'Course Library.'

Bruffee (1995) suggests that within a collaborative learning context, learners should assume the role of assessing individual group members' process. This sentiment is echoed by Winnie Cheng and Martin Warren (2000) through their recognition of using peer assessment as a means of reducing 'free-loading' or 'social-loafing' in group work through the "individualizing of students' grades in a collaborative context." This element was researched and integrated into Technology for Educational Change by the previous course instructor (McEwen, 2002). Learners are not only provided with a grade on their group product, but their process and individual contributions are factored into the calculation of their final grade for each of the collaborative assignments. Learners are given a percentage of the group product score based on the quality of their contributions toward the final product. The individual grades are calculated by weighting the group product scores by the average of each learner's self and peer assessment scores. Self and peer assessment scores are based on a rubric negotiated by each forum. An example of the assessment criteria used for their self and peer assessment is provided in Table 1.5. The first column presents the criteria the Forum 4 negotiated and agreed upon. In the second column, the group's definition or description of each criterion is presented. The formula used to calculate learner grades, as well as an example of how the self and peer review scores factor into the final product score to determine the individual grade is provided in Table 1.6. The first column of the assessment rubric table contains Forum 4's assessment criteria. The second column contains the learner's self-assessment for each criterion. Finally, the third and fourth columns contain the peer review scores from each peer. The formula table shows exactly the result of factoring the self and peer review scores into the calculation of the individual grade.

Table 1.5 Forum 4 rubric for self and peer assessment.

Criterion	Definition/Description	
	- More than minimum	
Quality of work	- Usefullness of expressed ideas	
	- accuracy and clearness of information	
Dominio di co	- Amount of feedback/input	
Participation	- Amount of devotion	
Positive reinforcements	(Group did not define)	
Respecting goals	- Punctuality!!! (deadlines-posting, attendance)	
Deles	- Duty fulfillment	
Roles	- Initiative	

Table 1.6 Calculating individual contribution score for collaborative activities.

Assessment Rubric				
Assessment Criteria	Self	Peer l	Peer 2	
Quality of work	Н	М	М	
Participation	М	М	М	
Positive reinforcement	М	М	М	
Respecting goals	Н	М	L	
Roles	Н	M	М	
Global Ratings	4/5	3/5	3/5	

Formula for calculating individual grade					
Average of Self and Peer Review Score X Group product score = Individual grade					
3.33/5]	18/20		12/20	

Promoting Collaborative Learning

It is essential for collaborative and cooperative learning activities be well designed for learners to capitalize on the benefits of this type of learning. Johnson et al. (1991) outlined five elements that promote cooperative work in face-to-face groups, which Brandon and Hollingshead (1999) believe can be applied to on-line collaborative groups. These elements include (a) individual accountability, (b) face-to-face promotive interaction, (c) social skills, (d) group processing discussions and (e) positive interdependence.

Great care was taken in the design of the collaborative activities and learner interaction to ensure that these elements were adequately addressed. The incorporation of the semi-weekly Learning Logs, and the self and peer assessment component ensures allows learners to reflect on (a) who is contributing what to the group effort (individual accountability), (b) the quality of each group member's contributions (promotive interaction), (c) the "smoothness" of interaction among group members (social skills), and (d) group functioning on an on-going basis (group processing). Being aware that learners do not always possess the necessary social skills for working with others, the learners build up to the two collaborative activities that constitute about 45% of their final grade. During the second week of the semester, learners meet face-to-face during class time to discuss their personal learning goals for the course and agree on a list of group goals for the collaborative activities. The class prior to the beginning of the first collaborative activity, learners meet with their group to negotiate the assessment criteria that they will use for the self and peer assessment. Brandon and Hollignshead (1999) suggest four types of interdependence, (a) goal, (b) reward, (c) resource and (d) role. To

incorporate positive interdependence in the course design, learners are asked to include their prior experiences with collaborative learning or working in groups, and with learning with technology in the Benchmark activity. Throughout the semester, learners are asked to reflect on their experiences with learning within the context of collaborative learning, a learner-centered environment and the use of technology. These exercises are incorporated in an attempt to foster a sense of value for using these techniques, both as future educators and as learners.

Reflective Practices

As teacher educators we prepare future teachers to become educational leaders who are open to different perspectives, whose instructional decisions draw on multiple sources of information that is responsive to the capabilities and needs of diverse learners. (Risko, et al., 2002)

This description of our role as teacher educators is parallel to the beliefs concerning the need to teach future practitioners to be reflective learners, which is most notably outlined in *Educating the Reflective Practitioner* (Schon, 1987). Schon suggests that successfully bridging the gap between theory and practice requires engagement in reflective practice.

Reflection can be defined as the process of reviewing, reconstructing, revisiting and critically analyzing one's own performance (Shulman, 1987). Evidence that emerges from this process is used to ground explanations, beliefs, or knowledge, which leads to consequences (Shulman, 1987; Zeichner & Lipston, 1987). Dewey (1987) suggests the process and outcome of reflection are interrelated and "involves not simply a sequence of ideas, but a *con*-sequence – a consecutive ordering in such a way that each determines the next as its proper outcome, while each outcome in turn leans back on, or refers to, its

predecessors" (p. 4). Dewey further distinguishes reflective thought from other types of thinking in that it requires two phases; "(1) a state of doubt, hesitation, perplexity, mental difficult, in which thinking originates, and (2) an act of searching, hunting, inquiring, to find material that will resolve the doubt, settle and dispose of the perplexity" (p. 12).

Why use reflective practices?

While Argyris and Schon (1974) believe that "all human beings need to become competent in taking action and simultaneously reflecting on this action and learn from it" (p. 4), this appears to be especially true in teacher education (Ferguson, 1989; Newman, 1996; Risko et al., 2002; Zeichner & Liston, 1987). Why might it be so important to include reflective practices in teacher education? If we consider the current reform to the Quebec Education system, we have seen that changes such as these have been met with resistance from in-service teachers. This could be attributed to what Ferguson (1989) refers to as being the problem with teacher education programs that focus on technical competence rather than on reflective practices. It produces individuals who only see one possible way of teaching, the way in which they were taught. This, in turn, restricts "their capacity to reflect upon a range of possible decisions and activities available in teaching" (Ferguson, 1989, p. 36). Therefore, providing pre-service teachers with the opportunity to confront their own beliefs about teaching and previous experiences, while adopting new perspectives, can lead to a deeper understanding of teaching (Barnett, et al., 2002; Risko, et al., 2002). By adopting reflective practices, pre-service teachers enhance their ability to think flexibly and objectively about problems, which enables them to learn from their own practices, enhance their ability to make connections between theory and practice, allowing them to learn from and about their own teaching (Risko, et al., 2002).

CHAPTER 2

This Study and Its Purpose

With the changing demands in industry and academia, partly due to the infiltration of accessible electronic media, learning is moving away from a solitary act, characterized by memorization and exams, to a social arena where learners dictate how and when they learn. While experts insist that a learner-centered education, driven by collaboration, is essential, learners do not seem that easily convinced. Why do so many learners shudder at the mere suggestion of group work? Past experiences riddled with freeloaders, wasted time and the feeling of 'doing it all myself' are leaving learners weary of such approaches. Could the use of computer conferencing systems change this view, by bringing collaboration out into the open where freeloaders are easily identified and all contributors are made accountable for their contributions? My purpose in conducting this research was to determine whether certain components or aspects of the collaborative process are more conducive to an on-line learning environment while others are more suited to a face-to-face learning environment.

Why use collaborative learning?

The tendency towards the increased incorporation of collaborative learning can be attributed to several studies demonstrating the benefits of this type of learning over more traditional methods (Hiltz, 1998). Collaborative learning benefits learners on an academic, cognitive and social level. It is believed that the use of collaboration can (a) promote student learning and achievement (Brandon & Hollingshead, 1999; Cockrell, et al., 2000; Hiltz, 1998), (b) nurture the development of critical reasoning skills (Brandon & Hollingshead, 1999; Cockrell, et al., 2000), (c) encourage more frequent generation of

ideas (Brandon & Hollingshead, 1999; Cheng & Warren, 2000; Chui, 2000), and (d) foster greater transfer of learning (Brandon & Hollingshead, 1999) and engagement of cognitive experiences (Cockrell, et al., 2000). According to Cheng & Warren (2000) the social benefits of exposing learners to collaborative activities include the development of interpersonal relationships and individual responsibilities as well as the development of the personal transferable skills' of communication, presentation, problem solving, leadership delegation and organization. All of these skills could be considered vital for successful future educators.

Computer Supported Collaborative Learning

Could pre-service teachers engaging in the collaborative process benefit from the use of computer-mediated communication? Computer supported collaborative learning (CSCL) can be defined as the use of computer technology to facilitate group learning. Brandon and Hollingshead (1999) further characterize CSCL as the amalgamation of "classroom-based collaborative learning theory with theory and research on computer mediated communication (CMC) in order to provide a foundation for understanding how CMC-based group projects can enhance learning."

The literature supports numerous benefits in using CSCL, most of which capitalize on the asynchronous nature of computer conferencing systems used for computer mediated communication (CMC). These benefits can be summarized by addressing four major issues of collaboration: a) time and space; b) efficiency; c) individual accountability; and d) creation of a social context for learning.

<u>Time and space</u>. Collaboration within an asynchronous conferencing system allows learners to contribute to a group effort when it is convenient for them to do so

(Turoff, 1999; Weasenforth, et al., 2002). Since active engagement in the collaborative process is not restricted by time or space, asynchronous communication encourages reflection rather than spontaneous thinking (Abrami & Bures, 1996; Edelson, 2000; Turoff, 1999; Weasenforth, et al., 2002). This is beneficial not only for learners who maintain unusual or busy schedules (e.g., job and/or family) but to those students for whom the language of instruction is not their first language. This is especially true when technology is integrated over an extended time frame, students learn to "interpret and produce contextually appropriate language by recognizing, deconstructing, and analyzing texts they encounter" (Weasenforth, et al., 2002). Furthermore, this promotion of learner reflection on course content encourages learners to take responsibility for their learning, promotes careful deliberation, which in turn, encourages critical thinking (Weasenforth, et al., 2002). This extension of course content outside of the classroom in terms of time and space also provides more learners with the opportunity to share their ideas and opinions or ask questions. During a face-to-face encounter, only one leaner can speak or be heard at a time. With the use of asynchronous communication learners do not have to wait for their turn to be heard, or even wait for class time for that matter. It engages learners in discourse "without fear of overt intimidation by bullies or egotists who often interrupt the most and speak the loudest in face-to-face discussions and traditional classroom settings" (Sotillo, 2000, p.84).

Efficiency. In the description of my experience with collaborative learning above, I commented on the struggle to stay on task during face-to-face group meetings, which tended to make this process unproductive. This challenge is not a product of collaborating face-to-face; rather it is the result of communicating within any synchronous, or real-

time, environment. In my capacity as teaching assistant and instructor of the DE section of *Technology for Educational Change* I observed the same frustrations and complaints by learners who used the FirstClass® 'chat' function. However, learners who collaborated solely by posting messages (asynchronous) to their group conferences seemed to feel more productive. According to Turoff (1999), this is related to the volume of communication. "Anything that reduces the need for comments or messages that have nothing to do with the meaningful discussions underway allows greater productivity of the resulting discussions without information overload setting in" (Turoff, 1999). Sotillo (2000) further speculates that even synchronous CMC is more efficient in terms of time on task than ordinary classroom discourse.

Accountability. The increased use of written communication associated with the use of asynchronous CMC (Abrami & Bures, 1996; Edelson, 2000) provides learners and facilitators with a record of communication, which provides evidence of the collaborative process as well as individual contributions (Abrami & Bures, 1996; Turoff, 1999). In such a social context, being aware of and giving credit for the process learners are engaged in while completing an assignment is invaluable. The recognition of individual contributions can increase students' sense of accountability, responsibility, initiative, participation and interaction (Brandon & Hollingshead, 1999; Edelson, 2000; Feather, 1999; Turoff, 1999). Increases in learners' rates of interaction can foster greater communication with peers and discussion of course concepts (Brandon & Hollingshead, 1999), which in turn, fosters greater learning and higher levels of performance (Brandon & Hollingshead, 1999; Hiltz, 1998).

Social context for learning. Finally the greatest benefit in using CSCL is the social context it provides for learning. In CSCL, the social creation of knowledge is emphasized as the bases of learning. "The interactive and collaborative nature of asynchronous technology allows students to share perspectives and experiences, to establish relationships, to seek assistance." (Weasenforth, et al., 2002, p. 59) Within such a context, meaning is negotiated and developed among group members. Brandon & Hollingshead (1999) speak to the impact of the social context on the learning process. "The social context in which collaboration and communication occur inherently influences learning and the on-line environment can offer a stronger sense of context than the standard classroom."

Personal Background

My experience as a learner

As an undergraduate student, I hated working in groups. I did not see the benefits of working in this way and often opted to work alone when I had the opportunity to do so. I found group meetings to be unproductive since we rarely stayed on topic and accomplished little. I found group work to often be unfulfilling due to feelings of being stifled by and resentful of my group members.

Like many learners, I often found myself being left doing all the work while others received equal credit for it. During my last semester, after a series of unsatisfactory experiences with on-line learning, but with a great interest in computer technology, I registered for the DE section of *Technology for Educational Change*. While skeptical of collaborating on-line with people I had never met, I found it to be a very exciting

experience. I was finally given credit for the efforts I invested in the group product, and I felt that my academic strengths were exploited.

As a graduate student and instructor of *Technology for Educational Change*, my views of the value of collaboration had changed, in theory but not in practice. At the beginning of my graduate studies, I became even more dominant in group settings and did not trust my peers to complete the tasks to my specifications. I came to recognize that the resentment and feelings of being stifled by group members stemmed from my need to be in control. I found myself purposefully being part of groups who would allow me to assume the role of group leader, which resulted in a role as more of a dictator.

Practice into Theory: My experience as an instructor

Through my experience as co-instructor I realized that this was rather hypocritical and in working in a successful collaborative activity with a person I trusted and respected, I realized that my issue about working with others was the loss of control over the task. In my capacity as a teaching assistant and later co-instructor of *Technology for Educational Change*, I was able to observe learners engaged in collaborative settings that were based on the theories of collaboration. These observations, removed from my own personal experience, gave me insight into what in fact makes collaboration effective and how the theory can be put into practice while maintaining learner satisfaction and enjoyment of the process. This provided me with a greater insight into the benefits of collaboration. Over the course of the semester I saw evidence of the potential for using on-line collaboration in a face-to-face course.

On-site versus on-line

Although computer-based distance education has been around for decades (Phipps & Merisotis, 1999), the literature, 'experts' and sceptics alike, harp on the need to highly scrutinise the practice. However, this type of in-depth reflection on good practice should not be reserved for this medium. All educators and policymakers should undergo the same sort of reflection as to why they have made the decision to use the materials, tools and approaches they implement.

The issue of best practices is central to this study. It seems that we have come to view instructional and pedagogical approaches dichotomously: Directed learning or constructivism; Teacher-centred or learner-centred; Individual work or group work; Onsite or at a distance. With each swing of the pendulum we move from one pedagogical extreme to the other. However, many educators do acknowledge that the best approach may be a combination of individual work and group work, lecturing, some discussion and discovery learning.

I believe it is time to include a combination of on-site and on-line learning into the learning context. This was Murray Turoff's (1999) suggestion in his presentation, *An end to student segregation: No more separation between distance learning and regular classes*, at the Telelearning *99* meeting. "It is my view that it is not the distance student who is being mistreated in this segregation but probably the face to face student. Then again, maybe the student sitting in a 500 person lecture hall is also a type of distance student even in the face-to-face class." (Turoff, 1999) I believe a move towards this 'desegregation' could be especially beneficial for collaborative learning activities.

Previous studies comparing instructional effectiveness or learning outcomes of distance education and traditional classroom learning found no significant difference between the two environments (Smith & Dillon, 1999; Shulman & Sims, 1999). I believe this is an unproductive comparison; our focus should be identifying the aspects of each environment that are more conducive to the learning process. Smith and Dillon (1999) support this approach and believe that an important element in comparative research design in this area should be to "describe the attributes of these variables based on how they might contribute to learning." In his paper, *Virtual and face-to-face learning:*Meeting points, Edelson (2000) reflects on his experiences as an on-line and face-to-face instructor and pinpoints the elements of each environment that he feels are most beneficial to his teaching and his students' learning process. Edelson (2000) focused his reflections on "...course structure, content and materials, class interaction, assignments and grading, modes of presentation, quality issues for students and instructor, and satisfaction" (p. 1).

Research Questions

In my pursuit to better understand the benefits of using on-line and face-to-face collaboration, and to inform future practice and course design, I explored the following research questions:

1. Do students enrolled in an undergraduate course on the theory and practice of integrating technology into the classroom, perceive their collaborative learning group to be more productive within an on-line collaborative learning environment or an on-site collaborative learning environment?

2. What elements of the more productive environment contribute to these feelings of increased productivity?

Using a mixed-method research design and case studies

In attempting to answer the research questions outlined above, I used a mixed-method research design. According to Creswell (2002), a mixed-method research design is one whereby both quantitative and qualitative data are collected in a single study, and data are analysed and reported based on precedence and sequence of presentation of information. By incorporating both quantitative and qualitative data in a study, a more complete picture of the phenomenon can be presented, since the strengths of both methods are used (Creswell, 2002). It was important that this study have a qualitative element since, according to Towns, et al. (2000), a qualitative approach to research is best suited to studying group learning. This approach can uncover student perspectives of group learning activities since methods of data collection and analysis are geared toward building an understanding of what people do, know, think and feel through what they say, write or do.

There are three types of mixed-method design: (a) triangulation, whereby qualitative and quantitative data are collected simultaneously and merged; (b) explanatory, whereby first quantitative data is collected and qualitative data are collected later to explain or elaborate on the quantitative data; and finally the (c) exploratory, whereby qualitative data are collected and quantitative data are used to establish relationships within the qualitative data collected (Creswell, 2002).

A triangulation research design was used in this study. Creswell (2002) categorises the use of triangulation as a comparison of the quantitative and qualitative data, to find associations, and agreements and/or disagreements among them. According to Creswell (2002) this design allows researchers to discuss themes that emerge and how they support or refute the statistical data, and/or by quantifying qualitative data so that it can be compared or so that frequencies can be determined.

Merriam (2001) defines the case study method as "an intensive, holistic description and analysis of a single instance, phenomenon, or social unit" (p. 27).

Merriam (2001) suggests that a case study method is ideal when attempting to explain "how" and "why," when variables are so embedded in the situation as to be impossible to identify ahead of time. According to Miles (1990), the traditional process for writing a case study is a process involving (a) the collection of extensive data through interviews, observations, and available document, (b) the categorisation of data according to an emergent coding scheme as the study proceeds, (c) the storing of data in a retrievable format, and finally (d) the reduction and analysis of data into a written narrative.

While Creswell (2002) and Merriam (2001) have outlined several types of case studies, I have chosen to use Miles' (1990) procedures for pre-structured cases. The pre-structured case study begins with a conceptual framework and research question, the design of specific instruments, sampling specifications and the creation of a case outline prior to data collection.

CHAPTER 3

Planning

Learners and consent for participation

The participants in this study were undergraduate students registered in both the on-site and DE sections of the course *Technology for Educational Change* during the fall semester of the 2002-2003 academic year. The on-site group was the primary participants of the study, having completed collaborative activities for the course face-to-face as well as on-line. My decision to limit primary participation in the study to the on-site group was based on two important considerations. The first was that participants in the DE section would by necessity be required to compare current learning experiences with reflections about past courses. This situation raised questions about the reliability of learners' memories of past learning experiences. The second and related consideration was the design and implementation of the past collaborative activities upon which learners' memories would be based. Given the dynamic nature of collaborative learning arrangements, it was highly unlikely that different instructors would adopt similar enough strategies to make such comparisons worthwhile.

Although primary participation was limited to the on-site section, data were also collected from the DE section. As both sections completed the same learning activities, this secondary data from the DE section was deemed potentially valuable as it might provide insight into the reported comments made by learners in the on-site section.

In the *Study Guide*, purchased or downloaded by learners during the first week of classes, I included a description of the research study and how it related to the course (Appendix A). Learners were also informed of my status as a graduate student at the beginning of the semester and that my area of interest and research focused on collaborative learning. Learners were asked to consent to participate in my research after November 22, 2002 upon having completed the second of two collaborative activities. (See Appendix B for a copy of the consent form.)

Learners were informed that the research would involve no additional commitment beyond the required course activities and that the instructor/researcher would not have access to the consent forms until after final grades had been submitted and approved by the Chair of the Education Department. Learners were instructed both in the Study Guide and in the consent form, to contact my thesis supervisor or me with any questions or concerns about the research being conducted. The learners were informed that participation in the study was completely voluntary and that they were free to withdraw at any time, either by contacting my thesis supervisor or me. Our contact information was included on the consent form as well as in the Study Guide.

Data Collection

To encourage learner participation, all data collection was incorporated into the design and assessment of the course. Three major data sources were collected; (a) learner interaction in FirstClass® course and group conferences during the two collaborative activities, (b) all material contained in the learning logs, including weekly reflections and answers to guiding questions, 'lab activities', group meeting logs, and self and peer assessment forms, and (c) final individual reflection papers. All assignments completed

during the course of the semester are submitted on-line in designated folders within the class conference in FirstClass®. Each learner had their own Learning Log folder where they submitted their Benchmark, semi-weekly Learning Logs, self and peer assessment forms and Reflection Paper. A 'Drop-box' was created for learners to submit their group products at the end of each collaborative activity. This facilitated the collecting, organizing and storing of data used for the study.

It is important to note that the activities used as the basis for data collection were not specifically designed for the purpose this study. Originally designed by the teacher's assistant, the on-line activities being used were developed for the DE section of *Technology for Educational Change* during the winter semester of the 1999-2000 academic year (Bernard, 2000) and further revised during the fall semester of the 2000-2001 academic year (McEwen, 2001). The learning logs and reflection paper were conceived at the same time; however, they were modified based on feedback from past learners.

Learner Interaction

Over the course of the semester, learners were required to participate in two collaborative activities, both of which were completed on-line for the learners in the DE section. However, for the on-site section a counterbalanced research design was used whereby half the class collaborated on-line during the collaborative activity, while the other half collaborated face-to-face. This was switched for the second collaborative activity (those who collaborated on-line for first activity, collaborated face-to-face and vice-versa). Table 3.1 provides a layout of this design. The order in which groups collaborated on-line and on-site is designated in the first column of the table. Groups or

Forums are identified in the second column. This design provided students with the opportunity to collaborate within both environments and to try to ensure that the differences in productivity are truly due to the environment and not based on characteristics of the tasks.

Table 3.1 Counterbalanced Design for Collaborative Learning Activities

Learning Environment	Forums
On-line → on-site	A, C, E, G, & I
On-site → on-line	B, D, F, H, & J

Learner interaction was observed and documented during both two-week long collaborative activities, and individual learner contributions to the group product were then calculated. Individual grades for collaborative learning activities were determined using the assessment model designed by McEwen and Sclater (2002). Prior to the start of these activities, the learners negotiated the assessment criteria that was used as a basis for their self and peer assessment (McEwen, 2002). Each learner assessed their contributions to the group product as well as the contributions of their peers, by assigning high, medium or low for each criterion and providing justification for this assessment. Learners were then required to assign a global grade out of 5 for each group member. The process grade for each learner was determined by calculating the average of the self and peer assessment grades. This figure was then used as a weighting factor and multiplied by the group product score to attain individual grades. Therefore, learners received only the percentage of the group product grade that he/she contributed to the final product.

The first on-line activity was a comparative analysis between directed instructional approaches and a constructivist framework. This activity had three

components: (a) individual experience of directed instruction; (b) converting one of the individual experiences to a more constructivist approach to learning: and (c) self and peer assessment. The individual component entailed each group member describing, in detail, a personal learning experience of directed instruction. From this collection, the group chose one of the personal learning experiences to use as the basis for designing an instructional experience in the constructivist tradition. The second on-line activity consisted of designing a learning activity involving computers. This activity only had two components: (a) design phase, and (b) self and peer assessment. Every member of the group was expected to create a draft proposal for an activity. The group chose one of the draft proposals to expand upon. Strict guidelines were provided as to the scope of the design but groups had freedom in regard to the educational level, resources available and type of content to be covered.

Research Design

Given the data collected and the research questions previously outlined, I conducted a within condition as well as a cross condition case study analysis. I began by conducting a content analysis of the data collected. Through this content analysis, elements of effective collaboration emerged and served as a means of categorizing learners as well as the different elements of effective collaboration per environment. An outline of the data collection timeline is presented in Table 3.2. The weeks in which data were collected from learners is indicated in the first column of the table. The name and type of learning activity appears in the second column. Measures derived from each specified activity are described in the final column.

Table 3.2 Data Collection – Timeline and Description

Week	Learning Activity	Measure
Week 3	Learning Log #1:	Benchmark of prior experience with collaborative
	Individual reflection	learning
		What is collaborative learning?
		• What is your experience with collaborative learning?
		(For this question I encourage you to provide examples
		from personal experience, as a student or as an
		educator, working in collaborative learning groups.)
		(Content analysis)
Week 5	Collaborative activity #1 –	Directed learning experience (content analysis)
	Part 1: Individual reflection	
Week 8	Collaborative activity #1 -	Group final product
	Part 2: Collaboration	(Measure achievement)
Week 8	Learning Log week # 8	· Challenges faced this week.
	Individual Reflection	· How did you overcome/resolve these challenges?
		How would you avoid or handle a similar situation in
		the future? (Content analysis)
Week 9	Collaborative Activity #1 -	Satisfaction with self and peer contributions to group
	Self & Peer Assessment	product
	Individual reflection	(Content analysis)
Week 10	Learning Log week # 10	· Challenged faced this week.
	Individual reflection	· How did you overcome/resolve these challenges?
	Groups switch learning	How would you avoid or handle a similar situation in
	environments.	the future? (Content analysis)
Week 11	Collaborative Activity #2	Group final product (Measure achievement)
Week 12	Collaborative Activity #2 –	Satisfaction with self and peer contributions to group
	Self & Peer assessment	product
	Individual reflection	(Content analysis)
Week 12	Learning log week #12	· Challenged faced this week.
	Individual reflection	How did you overcome/resolve these challenges?
		(Content analysis)
Week 13	Reflection Paper:	Question from Reflection Paper guidelines:
	Individual reflections about	- Looking back at your description of your personal
	personal learning experience	experience with collaborative learning, how has this
		changed? Has it? Do you think that your experience
		collaborating face-to-face is different from
		collaborating on-line?
		- Review your sections on "Challenges faced" and
		"Resolutions". What have you learned about yourself
		throughout the semester? What have you learner about
		the way you learn? Are you satisfied with your
		performance? If you had the chance to begin again
		what if anything would you do differently?
		Finally, reflect upon how much time and energy you
		invested in this course- do you feel you gained as much
		as you invested? What do you think this says about
		learning within this medium?
		(Content analysis)

A Within Condition Case Analysis

I conducted a within condition case analysis, whereby the condition was the learning environment. Within each learning environment (face-to-face and on-line), I compared elements of perceived collaborative effectiveness to determine whether learners reported similar or different aspects of effective collaboration based on the order of the learning task, when the learning environment was held constant (Figure 3.1).

Figure 3.1 Within Condition Case Analysis

Learning Environment	Order	of Activities
Face-to-face	Forums B, D, F, H & J	Forums A, C, E, G & I
On-line	Forums B, D, F, H & J	Forums A, C, E, G & I

Cross condition case analysis

I also conducted a *cross condition case analysis*, whereby I compared elements of perceived collaborative effectiveness to determine whether learners reported similar or different aspects of effective collaboration based on the learning environment, when the order of the learning task was held constant (Figure 3.2).

Figure 3.2 Cross Condition Case Analysis

Learning Environment	Order	of Activities
Face-to-face	Forums B, D, F, H & J	Forums A, C, E, G & I
On-line	Forums B, D, F, H & J	I Forums A, C, E, G & I

CHAPTER 4

Implementation

Participation

Consent

Prior to the last class of the fall 2002 semester, I once again explained to the learners that I would be seeking participants for my thesis research. I informed learners of my intent to distribute consent forms during the following class, and that these would also be available on-line. Learners were reminded that participation in the study was voluntary and that I would not know who had consented to participate until after the course grades were submitted to and approved by the Chair of the Department of Education. The following class, I asked for a volunteer to distribute the consent forms (Appendix C) and left the room. This method is traditionally used at Concordia University for course/teacher evaluations. Once all consent forms were returned, the envelope was sealed and a learner was asked to sign across the seal of the envelopes. Learners were informed that a fellow student in Educational Technology would keep the envelope, and his office number was provided to them, in case they wanted to verify that I had not in fact seen the consent forms prior to submitting the final grades. Similarly, learners who preferred to consent on-line, or who were absent during the class in which the consent forms were distributed, submitted their consent forms to a secured 'drop-box' within the FirstClass® course conference. This conference was a protected space to which I did not have access until after the course grades had been approved.

The final grades were submitted to the Chair of the Department of Education on December 20, 2002 and approved on December 23, 2002. I obtained access to the print-based consent forms as well as the 'drop-box' in FirstClass® during the first week of January 2003. Twenty-two learners consented to participate in the study. This represents a 61% participation rate. Of the twenty-two learners who consented to participate, twenty-one completed a print-based consent form only one submitted an electronic consent form.

<u>Pseudonyms</u>

Since I have assumed the role of course instructor and researcher, it was important that the identities of the learners be protected to reduce bias in the interpretation and coding of the qualitative data. A third party assigned pseudonyms for the learners and randomly assigned a number to each Forum. Table 4.1 is a distribution of the learners according to Forum assignment. Learner's names were replaced with the pseudonym in the data collected.

Table 4.1 List of Participants According to Forum Membership

Forum 1	Forum 2	Forum 3	Forum 4	Forum 5
Amber	Beatrice	Carley	Denise	Edna
	Bonny	Cathy	Debby	Ellie
		Cindy	Daniel	Emily
Forum 6	Forum 7	Forum 8	Forum 9	Forum 10
Fred	Hailey	Ingrid	Julie	(no one from
Franka	Hope	Ida	Jane	this Forum
Francine	Heather			consented)

Data Collection

In the consent form, learners were informed that data for the study would be drawn from their group interactions, collaborative activities, self and peer assessment forms,

benchmark assignment, 'weekly' entries to learning logs and reflection papers. Although all of the data were collected and considered, only entries for weeks 8 and 12 of the Learning Logs and Reflection Papers were considered for this study. As the data analysis progressed, it became increasingly important that the text units were in fact learner perceptions and not researcher interpretations of learner attitudes. The learning log entries that contained 'Challenges Faced and Resolutions' sections were deemed ideal data sources as learners clearly articulated their perceptions of and attitudes about collaboration upon completing their collaborative activities. Table 4.2 indicates when logs were submitted and organized by the order/environment in which the learners completed the learning activities.

Table 4.2 Learning Logs 8 & 12 and Environment

Environment	Learning Log Week 8:	Learning Log Week 12:
On-line	Forums 3, 4, 5,7, & 8	Forums 1, 2, 6, 9, & 10
On-site	Forums 1, 2, 6, 9, & 10	Forums 3, 4, 5,7, & 8

Excluded data

Weekly Learning Logs. Responses to the 'weekly' guiding questions were not considered in this analysis as learners' responses were based on their role as future educators. Their reflections and opinions were about the use of technology and learning theories with a K-11 student population who could be considered to have very different needs and capabilities than adult learners.

Self and Peer Assessment. The self and peer assessment forms were not included in this analysis as each Forum was responsible for negotiating criteria that were specific to the needs of their group goals. This lack of standardization across the Forums meant that it would not be possible to make generalizable assumptions about group processing.

Observed Interaction. On-line interaction during the collaborative activities was excluded for several reasons. First, I could not observe group interaction during the on-site collaborative activities. Therefore I had nothing to compare the observed on-line interaction with. Learner reported group processing and interaction was deemed a more appropriate option as the process was standardized across both environments. The second reason for the exclusion of observed on-line interaction was that full group participation was rare. In fact, only in three cases was consent of all group members secured. Given that such a situation would require the exclusion of contributions of non-consenting, fragmentation of the interaction could be expected to negatively impact any interpretation.

Collaborative Activities. The collaborative activities were excluded since there were very few Forums where all members consented to participate. Attempting to establish what could be included would have been an arduous task with great potential for misrepresentation and ethical implications. For example, if one learner agreed to participate but a group member who had not consented submitted the final assignment, could the document be included? What about in cases where the learners divided the labour whereby each group member was responsible for completing a section of the final product? Must I exclude the part of the assignment produced by a learner who did not consent? These important issues aside, the final group products do not add additional insight into learner's perceived attitudes towards collaboration.

Benchmark Assignments. The benchmark assignments were excluded, as they were not reflective of learners' perceived attitudes about on-site and on-line collaboration as used in Technology for Educational Change, the purpose of this case study. While these data do provide a benchmark of learner general attitudes concerning collaboration, on-line learning and the use of technology, they did not provide additional insight to the focus of this study.

Method of Analysis: Qualitative

Content Analysis

Many stages were involved in the analysis of the qualitative data for this study. The first step involved coming up with an idea of what I would be looking for in the data. I came up with a variety of possible themes and subsequent codes. After establishing this starting point, I coded all submissions from one learner. I realized that there were (a) too many codes, and (b) they did not adequately address what I was observing. Having a feel for the data, I decided to recode allowing codes to emerge rather than limiting my coding to certain pre-established themes. After coding the first document, I went through the codes that emerged, defined them, and collapsed and added codes as necessary. I continued to code the work of an additional three learners and continued to refine the codes. After coding four learners, I created a codebook, which contained, the themes, codes, a description of each code, the assumption for each code and an example from the data (Appendix D). At this stage of the coding, the benchmark, reflection paper and all learning logs were included.

The next stage of coding involved recoding all data. While a lot of interesting information came out of the first coding session, there were far too many codes and the themes had strayed too far from the purpose of the study. I therefore, refocused the codes by brainstorming, once again, the components of collaboration that I found in the first stage of coding. Table 4.3 represents these codes organized into the themes of (a) efficiency, (b) group management, (c) task process, and (d) overall preference for one medium over the other. It was at this stage that the decision to only code Learning Log Week 8, Learning Log Week 10 and the Reflection Paper was made. Also at this stage of the coding process, two learners were dropped from the study. Hailey's contributions were not included since work was submitted in French. The interpretation of her reflections was challenging and feared inaccurate. Jane's contributions were not included since she did not complete one of the assignments (Learning Log Week 12).

Table 4.3 Coding Themes

			Themes	
	Efficiency	Group Management	Task Process	Overall Preference
Codes	 Time on task Timeliness of response Overall judgment on efficiency 	 Setting deadlines Setting meetings Sharing workload 	 Getting started Making decisions Sharing drafts Working on drafts/final submission Editing Sharing ideas Providing feedback 	 Preference for face-to-face collaboration Preference for online collaboration

Once all coding was completed, frequencies were tabulated for each learner. This served as the quantitative data for the study. This method of qualitative and subsequent quantitative analysis is consistent with the procedures of a content analysis. Using this method of qualitative analysis, coding of raw data and the construction of categories that capture relevant characteristics are done simultaneously (Merriam, 2001). According to Merriam, a content analysis involves initially establishing categories that guide the study, while "others are allowed and expected to merge throughout the study" (p.160). This approach is quantitatively oriented in that the frequency or variety of communication is applied to characterize and compare documents. (Meriam, 2001, p. 160)

Method of Analysis: Quantitative

In an attempt to answer the research questions that drove this study, seven hypothesis tests about collaboration were conducted using a series of chi-square tests. The chi-square is used to determine whether variables are related. (Bruning & Kintz, 1997) It is used "when the data for the dependant or outcome measure to be analyzed are on a nominal scale of measurement" (Abrami, et al., 2001, p. 512). Abrami, et al. characterizes two types of chi-square tests; (a) goodness of fit, which is used for a single variable and explores how well the sample values correspond to expected values (based on a hypothesized population), and (b) test of independence, which is used for at least two variables and that determines whether the values of the two variables are related to or dependant of the other. A summary of the hypothesis tests is presented in Table 4.4. These hypotheses are research or alternative hypotheses. Only the null hypothesis was tested in each case.

Table 4.4 Summary of Alternative Hypotheses

Test	Hypothesis
Test 1: Perceived	Learners will perceive each element to either be more
effectiveness of specific	positive or more negative within either an on-line or
elements of collaboration	on-site environment
across environment.	
Test 2: Attitudes towards	Learners will perceive one environment to be more
on-line and on-site	effective for collaborative learning.
collaboration.	
Test 3: Attitudes towards	Learners will have stronger attitudes towards
elements of collaboration,	elements of collaboration within an on-line or on-site
on-line and on-site.	environment.
Test 4: Order effect on	Learner perceived effectiveness of efficiency, group
perceived effectiveness of	management or task process is not affected by the
elements of collaboration.	order of collaborative environment.
Test 5: Order effect on	Learner perceived effectiveness of on-line or on-site
overall attitudes towards on-	collaboration would not be affected by the order of
line and on-site	the collaborative environment.
collaboration.	
Test 6: Order 1 – attitudes	Learner attitudes towards efficiency, group
towards elements of	management and task process within an on-line and
collaboration.	on-site collaborative environment would not be
	affected by first collaborating on-line then
T + 7 O 1 O	collaborating on-site.
Test 7: Order 2 – attitudes	Learner attitudes towards efficiency, group
towards elements of	management and task process within an on-line and
collaboration.	on-site collaborative environment would not be
	affected by first collaborating on-site then
	collaborating on-line.

CHAPTER 5

Results

The seven hypothesis tests explored in this project were presented in Table 4.4. After conducting statistical analyses for each of these tests, it became apparent that the inclusion of all of these tests was not necessary. For example, hypothesis tests six and seven, in Table 4.4, did not contribute any new knowledge or provide insight into the exploration of order effect, since, a previous test proved that an order effect did not exist. Therefore, in this chapter, the results of chi-square tests exploring four of these hypotheses are presented.

The frequencies that served as the basis for these analyses are presented in Table 5. First, the responses from learners who collaborated on-line for activity 1 and on-site for activity 2 are presented. Positive and negative comments pertaining to efficiency, group management and task process are presented based on the learning log entry in which they were included. Second, the responses from learners who collaborated on-site for activity 1 and on-line for activity 2 are presented. Again, positive and negative comments pertaining to efficiency, group management and task process are presented based on the learning log entry in which they were included.

In the sections that follow the frequency table, each hypothesis test is explored. First, an explanation of each test is presented identifying the focus of the test. This is followed by the hypothesis and an explanation and/or justification for the test and corresponding hypothesis. Next, a table of observed and expected values is presented. An interpretation of these findings is included and in cases where further testing was deemed

Table 5.0

Frequencies of leaner responses

on-site	on-line	Attitude			On-line collaboration followed by on-site collaboration
0	0	P		LEA	ollowe
0	5	Z	H	RNIN	d by o
0	0	P	0	3 LOC	n-site
	7	Z	GM	} WEE	collabo
_	0	P	_	K 8 - 0	ration
0	သ	Z	P	On-line	
0	0	P	.,	LEA	•
0	0	Z	H	LEARNING LOG WEEK 8 - On-line LEARNING LOG WEEK 12	
	0	P	G	G LOC	
5	_	Z	G M	WEE	
0	2	P	_1		
ω	0	Z	ſΡ	- On-site	
7	4	P			
-	7	Z	Π	REFI	
	2	P	GM	REFLECTION PAPER	
S	0	Z	Z	ON P,	
S	_	Ъ	-1	\PER	

3 Z

On-site collaboration followed by on-line collaboration

	LEAR	9	FOG	IING LOG WEEK 8 - On-si	K 8 - (On-site	-site LEAR	RNING LOG WEEK 12 - On-li	G LOC	WEE	K 12 -	On-line		REFL	ECT	ION PAPER	PER		
		Ħ	G	G M	T	P.		Π	G	G M		Ð,		Π	م	Z	-	-	
Attitude	P	Z	P	Z	Р	Z	P	Z	P	Z	P	z 	P	Z	P	Z	Р	z	
On-line	0	2	0	0		0		5	0	ယ	0	<u> </u>	ယ	=	ယ	4	· س	<u>-</u>	
On-site	0	0	0	∞	0	0	0	0	_	0	0	0	2	ယ	2	ω.	4	<u>ယ</u> (
																		,	

E - efficiency; GM - group management; TP - task process

necessary, these tests and subsequent findings are presented. Finally, qualitative data, which supports, refutes and/or further explains the findings, is presented.

Test 1: Perceived Attitudes Towards On-line and On-site Collaboration

This test explored learner attitudes towards computer supported collaborative learning and traditional collaborative learning. My hypothesis was that learners would perceive one environment or the other to be more effective for collaborative learning.

The results of this chi-square test are presented in Table 5.1. The first column presents values for positive and negative attitudes. The second and thirds columns present attitudes towards on-site and on-line collaborative learning.

Table 5.1
Attitudes Towards On-line and On-site Collaboration

Observed values Attitudes	Envi	ronment
	On-site	On-line
Positive	23	20
Negative	33	62
Expected values		
Attitudes	Envi	ronment
	On-site	On-line
Positive	17.45	25.55
Negative	38.55	56.45
		$\chi^2 \operatorname{calc} = 4.32$
		df = 1
		$\chi^2 \operatorname{crit} = 3.84$
		$\alpha = .05$
		Reject Ho

This test found that there is a significant difference across environments. The most notable finding is that learners present significantly fewer positive attitudes than negative attitudes about both environments, which, while looking at the expected values does not seem surprising, given my hypothesis for this test, this result was not expected. Learners therefore do not overall perceive one environment to be 'better' than the other in terms of perceived effectiveness of collaboration. This is reflected in the varied responses that learners gave in their Reflection Papers as to which environment they preferred for collaboration.

- Heather I still prefer online activities because, by writing them out it is easier to see someone's point and to catch errors.
- Francine In the end I personally wouldn't think twice about it and say that the kind of person I am face-to-face is the way to go.
- Ellie After complaining about collaborating on-line for the first activity, our group quickly realized that working face-to-face wasn't necessarily better. In fact, we were joking (and eventually not joking anymore) that was easier to work on-line than in person.
- Hope Working face-to-face was much easier, being able to see each other's face, explaining and giving our views seemed to have been taken more seriously.
- Emily As for the face-to-face part of the collaborative activity, I did not like it as much as the on-line activity.

Ingrid – My experience collaborating face-to-face was better than my collaborating on-line for the simple fact that we were able to see each other give ourselves instantaneous feedbacks and solve misunderstanding more rapidly.

Given the comments above, most learners found both positive and negative aspects to collaborating face-to-face and on-line. Although, a few learners echoed Beatrice, in her belief that the best approach to collaboration is to provide learners with the opportunity to collaborate on-line and on-site. "I think whether you are collaborating on-line or face-to-face, there needs to be a balance in both" (Reflection Paper). Therefore, while Beatrice felt that collaborating face-to-face was more effective for her group, she recognizes that this may not be the case for all learners and that there is value to collaborating on-line.

Test 2: Order Effect on Overall Attitudes Towards On-site and On-line Collaboration

This hypothesis test was conducted to determine whether there is an order effect on overall learner attitudes towards on-site and on-line collaboration. My hypothesis was that the order of collaboration (on-line versus on-site) would not affect the attitudes of learners towards on-line and on-site collaboration.

The results of the chi-square test are presented in Table 5.2. The first column presents values for the order of the collaboration within each environment. The following columns present positive attitudes towards on-site collaborative learning, negative attitudes towards on-site collaborative learning, positive attitudes towards on-line collaborative learning and negative attitudes towards on-line collaborative learning. Order 1 represents collaborating on-line for the first collaborative activity and on-site for the second. Order 2

represents collaborating on-site for the first collaborative activity and on-line for the second.

Table 5.2

Order Effect – Attitudes Towards On-site & On-line Collaboration

Observed values Order		Attit	udes	
On-line – on-site	On-site positive	On-site negative	On-line positive	On-line negative
	14	17	9	31
On-site – on-line	9	16	11	31
Expected values				
Order		Attit	udes	
	On-site	On-site	On-line	On-line
	positive	negative	positive	negative
On-line – on-site	11.83	16.98	10.29	31.90
On-site – on-line	4.37	16.02	9.71	15.05
			χ^2 calc =	22.57
			df =	3
			χ^2 crit =	7.81
				.05
				Reject Ho

These findings suggest that there is an order effect on overall attitude concerning on-line and on-site learning. Given that these findings reject the null and therefore counter my hypothesis, additional chi-square tests were conducted to further understand the relationship. In Table 5.2.1, the possible order effect on positive and negative attitudes of on-line collaboration is explored. The first column presents the order in which the activities were collaborated on-line and on-site. The following columns of the actual and expected values tables present positive attitudes towards on-site collaborative learning and negative attitudes towards on-site collaborative learning.

Table 5.2.1

Order Effect – Positive & Negative Attitudes Towards On-site Collaboration

Observed values Order	Attitudes On-site positive On-site negativ			nagativa
On-line – on-site	14			.7
On-site – on-line	9		16	
Expected values			<u> </u>	
Order		Attitudes		
	On-site positive		On-site	negative
On-line – on-site	12.73		20	.06
On-site – on-line	10.27		14	.73
			χ^2 calc =	0.86
			df =	1
			$df = \chi^2 \operatorname{crit} =$	3.84
				.05
				Accept Ho

This test reveals that there is no significant difference in positive and negative attitudes of face-to-face collaboration between order 1(collaborating on-line followed by collaborating on-site) and order 2 (collaborating on-site followed by collaborating on-line). This indicates that my hypothesis was upheld for face-to-face collaboration. This would suggest that the order effect is found in learner attitudes towards on-line collaboration. Results reported in Table 5.2.2 confirm this hypothesis. The first column of the observed and expected values tables presents the order in which the learners collaborated on-line and on-site. The following columns present positive and negative attitudes towards on-line collaborative learning.

Table 5.2.2

Order Effect – Positive & Negative Attitudes Towards On-site Collaboration

Order	Attitudes			
On-line – on-site	On-line positive 9	On-line negative 31		
On-site – on-line	11	31		
Expected values				
Order	Att	itudes		
	On-site positive	On-site negative		
On-line – on-site	9.76	48.63		
On-site – on-line	10.24	31.76		
		χ^2 calc = 6.53		
		df = 1		
		$\chi^2 \operatorname{crit} = 3.84$		
		$\alpha = .05$		
		Reject Ho		

Table 5.2.3 and 5.2.4 pinpoint where specific differences lie. In Tables 5.2.3 and 5.2.4, the columns of the actual and expected values tables present the order in which the activities were carried out (order 1 representing on-line followed by on-site; order 2 representing on-site followed by on-line). The first column in Table 5.2.3 presents the positive attitudes towards collaborating on-line, whereas the first column in Table 5.2.4 presents the negative attitudes towards collaborating on-line

Table 5.2.3

Observed values Attitude On-line positive	On-line – on-site 14	Order	On-site – on-line 9
Expected values Attitude On-line positive	On-line – on-site 0.5	Order	On-site – on-line 0.5 $\chi^{2} \text{ calc} = 6.53$ $df = 1$ $\chi^{2} \text{ crit} = 3.84$ $\alpha = .05$ Reject Ho
Table 5.2.4			
Order effect – Negative attitud	les towards on-line collabo	oration	
	On-line – on-site	Order	On-site – on-line 31
Order effect – Negative attitud Observed values Attitude	On-line – on-site		

Although the null was not rejected for either of these last two chi-square tests, what is clear is that the order effects found in the results outlined in Table 5.2 are very small and are not cause for concern.

Test 3: Perceived Effectiveness of Elements of Collaboration in an On-line & On-site Environment

This test explored learners' negative and positive attitudes towards efficiency, group management and task process across both on-line and on-site collaborative environment. My hypothesis was that for each element of collaboration explored, learners would have formed an opinion about each learning environment. For example, if the learners report more positive attitudes towards efficiency in an on-line collaborative environment, then they would be expected to possess more negative attitudes towards efficiency within an on-site collaborative environment. Furthermore, according to Turoff (1999), efficiency, group management and task process should be perceived more effective within an asynchronous CSCL environment.

Table 5.3 represents the results of the chi-square test conducted. The first column presents positive and negative attitudes. The following columns of the observed and expected values tables present attitudes towards particular elements of collaboration, common between to both on-line and on-site collaboration. These elements include; (a) efficiency, (b) group management, and (c) task process.

Table 5.3

Attitudes towards Elements of Collaboration (On-line and On-site)

Attitudes	Elements of collaboration						
	Efficiency	Efficiency	Group	Group	Task	Task	
	On-site	On-line	management On-site	management On-line	Process On-site	Process On-line	
Positive	8	8	5	5	10	7	
Negative	4	31	22	17	7	14	
Expected v	alues						
Attitudes	Elements of collaboration						
	Efficiency	Efficiency	Group	Group	Task	Task	
	On-site	On-line	management	management	Process	Process	
			On-site	On-line	On-site	On-line	
Positive	3.74	12.15	8.41	6.86	5.30	6.50	
Negative	8.26	26.85	18.59	15.14	11.70	14.46	
					χ^2 calc	= 9.10	
					df	= [
					χ^2 crit	= 3.84	
					α	= .05	
						Reject	
						Но	

Since the null was rejected, indicating that learners were not generally of the opinion that one environment was no more effective than the other for the elements of collaboration, three additional chi squares were administered (Tables 5.3.1, 5.3.2 and 5.3.3).

Table 5.3.1 represents the findings of conducting a chi-square to determine whether a significant difference exists between learners' positive and negative attitudes of efficiency in an on-line and on-site collaborative environment. The first column of Table

5.3.1 contains positive and negative attitudes. The columns present efficiency within an onsite collaborative environment and within an on-line collaborative environment.

Table 5.3.1
Attitudes towards Efficiency – on-line and on-site

Observed values Attitudes	Elements of collaboration			
	Efficiency On-site	Efficiency On-line		
Positive	8	8		
Negative	4	31		
Expected values				
Attitudes	Elements of collaboration			
	Efficiency On-site	Efficiency On-line		
Positive	3.76	12.24		
Negative	8.24	26.76		
		χ^2 calc = 9.10		
		df = 1		
		$\chi^2 \operatorname{crit} = 3.84$		
		α = .05		
		Reject Ho		

A significant relationship was found. While it appears to be a minor difference, learners felt overwhelmingly more negative about the efficiency of on-line collaboration. "It takes me three times longer to do stuff on line" (Franka, LL12). This sentiment was echoed by Debby (Reflection Paper), "It took a bit more discipline and more time because you had to be constantly checking FirstClass than getting the project done in one sitting."

In terms of opinions about group management (Table 5.3.2) and task process (Table 5.3.3), learners did not report a significant difference. As was the case with efficiency,

learners did report overwhelmingly, a greater number of negative attitudes towards group management, for both learning environments.

Table 5.3.2 represents the findings of conducting a chi-square to determine whether a significant difference exists between learners' positive and negative attitudes of group management in an on-line and on-site collaborative environment. The first column presents positive and negative attitudes. The following columns present group management within an on-site collaborative environment and within an on-line collaborative environment.

Table 5.3.2

Attitudes towards Group Management – on-line and on-site

5 22	Group Management On-line
	17
Α ••••	udaa
	On-site negative
5.51	4.49
21.49	17.51
	$\chi^2 \text{ calc} = 2.46$ $df = 1$ $\chi^2 \text{ crit} = 3.84$
	$\gamma^2 \text{ crit} = 3.84$
	$\alpha = .05$
	Accept Ho

Meanwhile, Table 5.3.3 presents the findings of conducting a chi-square to determine whether a significant difference exists between learners' positive and negative attitudes of task process in an on-line and on-site collaborative environment. The first

column presents positive and negative attitudes. The following columns present task process within an on-site collaborative environment and within an on-line collaborative environment.

Table 5.3.3

Attitudes towards Task Process – on-line and on-site

Observed values Attitudes	Elements of	collaboration	
	Task Process On-site	Task Process On-	line
Positive	10	7	
Negative	7	14	
Expected values			
Attitudes	Attit	udes	
	On-site positive	On-site negativ	re
Positive	7.61	9.39	
Negative	9.39	11.61	
		χ^2 calc = 0.91	
		df = 1	
		$\chi^2 \text{ crit} = 3.84$	
		$\alpha = .05$	
		Accep	ot Ho

These findings, which accept the null hypothesis, suggest that learners have formed an opinion as to which environment is more conducive to the process of completing the group task. While there is no significant difference between negative attitudes of on-site task process and positive attitudes towards the on-line task process, a significant difference between positive attitudes towards on-site and negative attitudes towards the on-line task process was found. This suggests that learners feel that the process of completing a

collaborative activity is more effective face-to-face than on-line. Julie most notably expressed this sentiment,

I find that when you're face-to-face it's easier to elaborate on an idea. Also, when you're face-to-face and you are talking and trying to explain yourself you sometimes get stuck and you're not quite sure how to explain but often the person who is listening to you understands what you are saying. But on-line if you're stuck and not sure how to explain yourself with writing, you're stuck, no one understands what you're saying...so I find that a lot of thoughts and ideas are lost on-line because of that. (Reflection Paper)

Test 4: Order effect on perceived effectiveness of various elements of collaboration

This hypothesis test was used to determine whether there was an order effect in relation to learner perceptions of efficiency, group management and task process. My hypothesis was that the order in which the learners collaborated, order 1 being on-line followed by on-site and order 2 being on-site followed by on-line, would not affect learner perceived effectiveness of efficiency, group management and task process.

The results in Table 5.4 confirm this hypothesis. The first column presents the order in which learners completed their collaborative activities. The following columns in Table 5.4 present the negative and positive attitudes learners possess towards efficiency, group management and task process.

Table 5.4

Order Effect on Perceived Effectiveness of Elements of Collaboration

Observed v	alues					
Order	Efficiency Positive	Efficiency Negative	Elements of col Group management Positive	laboration Group management Negative	Task Process Positive	Task Process Negative
On-line – on-site	9	16	4	20	10	20
On-site – on-line	7	19	6	19	7	9
Expected va	alues		Elements of col	laboration		
Order	Efficiency Positive	Efficiency Negative	Group management Positive	Group management Negative	Task Process Positive	Task Process Negative
On-line – on-site	8.23	18.01	5.14	20.07	8.75	10.80
On-site – on-line	3.40	16.99	4.86	18.93	8.25	10.20
					χ^2 calc df χ^2 crit α =	

There is no statistical significant difference on learner perceived effectiveness based on the order in which they collaborated on-line and on-site. Therefore, it is safe to say that whether learners collaborated on-line or on-site first, there was no difference in their positive and/or negative attitudes towards the effectiveness of efficiency, group management and task process. This being said, one learner did comment in her week 10

learning log that she believed that her group was at an advantage based on the order in which they collaborated on-line and on-site. "I have been talking to my friends who have been doing it [collaborating on-line] already and feel being the second groups around we are at an advantage, because we can learn from their mistakes." (Amber, Learning Log Week 10).

CHAPTER 6

Discussion and Implications

Although many authors have cited the benefits of collaborative learning (e.g. Abrami & Bures, 1996; Bernard, et al, 2000; Brandon & Hollingshead, 1999; Chui, 2000; Clark, 2000; Cockrell, et al, 2000; 1999; Feather, 1999; Hiltz, 1998; Johnson, et al., 1991; McWhaw, et al., in press; Towns, et al., 2000), overall learners in Technology for Educational Change do not perceive collaborative learning to be an efficient or even necessarily an enjoyable experience. While these findings do not really surprise me in that learners often express a dislike for collaboration, what does surprise me is that I never sensed this over the course of the semester. Even while coding the data, I did not realize how negatively the learners felt about their collaborative experiences. This is, perhaps a function of the guiding questions posed in the Learning Logs that were used in the study. A component of each of the semi-weekly Learning Logs asked learners to reflect on the challenges they faced during the previous week and how they overcame these challenges. Therefore, when the learners read through their Learning Log entries to respond to the questions in the Reflection Paper, they would only be reminded of all the "challenges" they faced collaborating and not on the positive aspects of the process, since these were not documented.

This being said, learners did not change their opinions about the use of collaboration as an effective *teaching* method; they just do not feel that it is productive for themselves as *learners*. This indicates that they may not have made the connection between their experiences as learners and their role as potential teachers, or perhaps is simply a reflection of their individual learning preferences. It would be interesting to

have the learners go back to their Reflection Papers, a semester after completing this course and then again in their first year of teaching, to see if their attitudes have changed and what this means for their own teaching. Perhaps learners maintain that collaboration is an effective way of teaching because that is what they are told to think, by their instructors and the literature presented to them. It would be interesting to see whether once my current learners begin teaching return to lecturing and not incorporate the methods modelled in this course. This would either suggest that teachers select teaching methods based on their own preferences as learners, or, as Barnett et al (2002) suggests, pedagogical decisions are made based on based on how their preconceived ideas about teaching.

Some interesting findings concerning learner perceptions of on-line and on-site collaboration and the three elements of the collaborative process that served as the focus of the study were found. The findings on learner's perceptions on efficiency, group management and task process, and learner preference for on-line versus on-site collaboration are discussed in the following sections.

Efficiency

Learners reported overwhelmingly that they did not feel that collaboration was an efficient way of learning and completing the activities. "It was hard to get the group to arrange time to get together for group work when it came to face-to-face and yet it was frustrating to leave messages on-line and not have any replies" (Amber, Reflection Paper). This being said, they did report feeling that face-to-face collaboration wasn't as 'bad' as collaborating on-line, which is contrary to Sotillo's (2000) suggestion that even

synchronous CMC is more efficient in terms of time on task than ordinary classroom discourse. "In a face-to-face setting, disagreements are solved on the spot and ideas can be given simultaneously, whereas on-line, you would have to wait for a reply and wait for a comment" (Heather, Reflection Paper).

This being said, after examining the qualitative data more closely, there does seem to be some possible explanations for these negative feelings toward on-line collaboration, which are not reflected in the quantitative data. You will recall I cited Turoff's (1999) benefits of asynchronous CSCL several times in this study. For learners to capitalize on the benefits of asynchronous computer supported collaborative learning, they must actually use asynchronous communication, which mostly was not the case in this class. Many learners felt that collaborating face-to-face was not efficient since trying to find a convenient time was nearly impossible. For example, one learner expressed these frustrations about trying to find a time and place to meet.

Franka - We couldn't agree on a date to meet and do our assessment since we all have different schedules in and out of school and when we decided to meet on a certain day our plans changed as people had found out during that same week they had soccer games and doctor appointments. (Learning Log Week 8)

Yet most still attempted to meet synchronously using the 'chat' function in FirstClass®. Even more striking is that several groups actually met at the one of the labs on campus, sat next to each other and either used the chat function or posted short messages to their group conference. "I sent the group a message, stating to meet at 11:45 on Thursday at

the lab so we could all be on-line at the same time and work on the project together (of course by FirstClass!)" (Beatrice, Learning Log Week 10). If they felt that face-to-face collaboration was not efficient and that they found it hard to meet to complete the face-to-face activity, I can only imagine their frustrations as they sat next to each other and typed what they wanted to say rather than simply speaking.

This clearly indicates, in general, the learners did not see the value in collaborating in this way, and therefore, that in my role as course instructor, I did not do enough to promote positive interdependence in the course design, which Johnson et al. (1991) and Brandon and Hollingshead (1999) suggest are essential for collaborative learning to work successfully. I do not expect that all learners would enjoy collaborating within a computer-supported environment; however, I think that it is important that learners understand the logistics of how learning within this environment can be accomplished. When teaching this course in the future this is definitely something that has to be re-examined. Perhaps including more articles supporting asynchronous CSCL would be the place to start. Although adopting a constructivist philosophy means allowing learners to decide what works best for them in terms of how they learn, learners seemed to be more satisfied with the on-line collaboration when they were all working on it at the same time at the beginning of the semester. Therefore, perhaps having the entire class collaborating on-line for the first collaborative activity and strongly suggesting that learners do not use the synchronous functionality available in FirstClass, would change the way learners perceive the use of this medium.

While I have mentioned several times that on-line versus on-site comparative studies are often inconclusive, it would be interesting to compare learner perceptions of

the efficiency of asynchronous collaboration between learners taking an on-campus course with an on-line component with learners taking a course completely on-line. For example, do learners in the DE section of *Technology for Educational Change* value the benefits of asynchronous computer supported collaboration more than learners in the on-site section? This being said, given that most learners enrolled in the DE section are not true distance learners (i.e., most live in the Greater Montreal area and do come to the university for some courses) they may very well perceive this type of learning than learners who live outside of the city, province or even country. I suspect that the further learners are from the university, their peers and their instructor, the more they will value asynchronous computer-mediated communication. Every semester, there is a at least one group in the DE section of *Technology for Educational Change* who try to meet face-to-face to complete part of their collaborative activity. This is not possible for learners who live in outlying areas.

Group Management

Learner attitudes towards face-to-face group management were also very interesting. Overall, they reported feeling that on-site group management was not desirable. The findings in this regard can be attributed to the learners experiencing great difficulties in finding a time and place to meet that was convenient to all group members. "Another issue was the fact that we did not get together with each other to do any face-to-face collaboration because of our hectic lives" (Cathy, Learning Log Week 12). This being said, they did not feel that collaborating on-line was the answer. "Once again, the biggest challenge was planning a day where everyone in our group could meet on-line

and discuss our collaborative activity" (Julie, Learning Log Week 12). This again could be attributed to the way in which they collaborated on-line and that the structure of the activities did not give them the flexibility to try collaborating on-line to overcome these challenges. "Another difficulty I found was resisting messaging each other over FirstClass. Because we had done our project on-line last time it seemed like a quick and easy way to give each other info in order to complete our project" (Debby, Learning Log Week 12). Meanwhile, some groups who encountered difficulty collaborating on-line broke the 'rules' by resorting to face-to-face communication to make decisions; "Well to solve the meeting online, in Thursday's class (the one with the guest speaker) we decided to post up the pros and cons by Sunday that week, we kept writing to each other in FirstClass but we couldn't figure out a day to meet so we called each other just to find out what day to meet on-line" (Julie, Learning Log Week 12).

During the first year of teaching the on-site section of *Technology for Educational Change*, all learners were required to collaborated on-line for the first activity and had the choice of collaborating on-line or face-to-face for subsequent activities. I think that this situation was ideal. Learners were afforded the experience of collaborating on-line, which they might not have experienced fully had they not been required to do so, but had the freedom to collaborate using all tools at their disposal. If I were to conduct further research within the context of this design, I would include a question in the Reflection Paper to address specifically which tools or which elements of each environment learners used or felt was more effective in completing collaborative activities. This would provide me with a rich data source, but more importantly it would encourage learners to reflect on their collaboration more deeply.

Task Process

The process that is undertaken to complete a collaborative activity is the only element of collaboration where learners actually seemed to form a collective opinion on whether it was more effective within a face-to-face or on-line learning environment.

Learners reported feeling more favourable about engaging in the collaborative process on-site than on-line. This being said, leaner reactions to the task process appear to be in reaction to either the inefficiencies of collaborating on-line or in response to feelings that face-to-face collaboration is more efficient. Daniel and Carley share these sentiments.

Daniel – I found that my experience of collaborating face-to-face was different from collaborating on-line because I found that collaborating face-to-face made the work go faster. Since if we work face-to-face we communicate more effectively and there was no waiting for the other members of the group to respond to ideas, and it made it easier to express our ideas than it was expressing our ideas on-line. (Reflection Paper)

Carley – It is easier to communicate face-to-face for the group can come up with ideas and criticisms on the spot, and not have to wait to see if others in the group would get them on time. (Reflection Paper)

On-Line Versus Face-to-Face

Overall, I do not think a clear judgement can be made as to whether learners perceive to be more productive or effective collaborating on-line versus face-to-face.

While I had suspected that this would be the case based on the literature reviewed (Smith

& Dillon, 1999; Shulman & Sims, 1999), I had thought that learners would discern aspects of the collaborative process that were more conducive to collaborating on-line as well as aspects that were more conducive to collaborating face-to-face. Again, this lack of definitive, clear cut answers can be attributed to the ways in which the learners collaborated, and the instructional design of the activities.

This being said, learners did feel that trying to coordinate the schedules of four to five university students, with part-time employment, family commitments and social lives, was all but impossible, and they felt that this aspect was more difficult when collaborating face-to-face than collaborating on-line. This is consist with the literature (McWhaw, et al., in press) that suggests that on-line learning and distance education in general has become more prevalent in universities to reflect the needs of an increasingly diverse student population. "The face-to-face collaboration I found to be a little more difficult because of the busy lives people lead today (jobs, school, family, leisure activities, etc.)" (Cathy, Learning Log Week 8). However, they felt that collaborating face-to-face was more efficient than collaborating on-line, due in part to the time consuming nature of having to type questions and response, waiting for responses and not knowing when to expect to hear from their peers.

Amber - The next issue was one of the members seemed to never log on or make any suggestions and when she finally did log on, clearly seeing that we already had a concept and had been working on it, she writes a note with an idea, the day before it was due AAAHHHHHHHH. (Learning Log Week 10)

Cathy – I keep going on-line for feedback or a response to my messages and not getting any. (Learning Log Week 8)

This indicates that the duration of the on-line collaborative component was not long enough for the learners to establish some sort of schedule or routine, which is so important when collaborating.

In the final analysis, many learners remained that collaboration, especially on-line collaboration, was just too time consuming. Francine, for example, seemed to feel that collaborating on-line was not a good return on investment. "I guess my point of view is that the medium isn't fair in my mind, seeing that so much more time and effort is put into on-line and the marks are lower or about the same as in-class classes. I don't agree with the learning medium" (Reflection Paper).

<u>Implications</u>

Since I found that the order in which learners collaborated for each environment did not have a serious effect on learner perceptions and satisfaction of the learning environment, I will, in future, begin the course with the entire class collaborating on-line for the first activity and, in true constructivist fashion, allowing them to chose which environment they would like to use for their second collaborate activity. I believe that since many groups began by collaborating face-to-face, (a) they had established a way of collaborating that was somewhat successful and therefore resented having to limit themselves to one means of communication for the second activity, and (b) learners who began collaborating on-line observed the others collaborating face-to-face and therefore

formed preconceived ideas of which was better based on how their team was functioning. If everyone were on an even playing field, collaborating within the same environment, these feelings of resentment would be lessened. This could be an area for future study.

The possibility of restricting on-line collaboration to asynchronous communication could also be advantageous for the future. I believe learners will have a very different sense of what the DE learners experience in the completion of their collaborative activities. I also believe that through this experience, they will experience the benefits of asynchronous collaboration that Turoff (1999), and others have written about.

Another area to look at when preparing for future sections of *Technology for Educational Change* is the way that groups are formed. First, many learners reported feeling that having instructor-engineered groups was not effective. They felt that there were people in the class with whom they had previously worked and had developed a good working relationship with. I am not sure that in the future I would permit learners to select their own groups, however I would change the way the process of engineering groups. I would pay closer attention to matching learners in terms of the computer knowledge and skills, I would continue to divide learners in such a way as to ensure a balance of education majors and non-education majors, and finally I would also try to more evenly balance native English speakers with second-language learners.

Conclusion

Learners enrolled in an undergraduate course on the theory and practice of integrating technology into the classroom do not perceive that collaborating on-line is more effective

than collaborating on-site, and vice-versa. Learners reported feeling that, in terms of their own personal learning experience, overall collaborative learning is not an efficient way of completing course work. However, they did report slightly less negative experiences with face-to-face collaboration than with on-line collaboration. When engaged in a collaborative learning activity, learners reported that it is more difficult to manage the group effort within a face-to-face collaborative context than within an on-line environment. This is driven by difficulties in scheduling group meetings and following that is, in reality, contributing what to the group product. Learners did report a preference for face-to-face collaboration when it comes to the process of completing the collaborative activity.

What is surprising is that while learners may report a greater number of negative views about certain aspects of collaboration in one of the environments over the other, they do not in turn report more favourable views about the same issue within the opposite learning environment. This indicates that future research must be more specific in terms of what is explored. Learners should be asked to reflect on the areas of efficiency, group management and task process on an on-going basis before, during and after the collaborative activities. This will, perhaps, provide more concrete evidence to inform future practice in using a hybrid of face-to-face and on-line collaboration within an on-site course.

REFERENCES

- Abdal-Haqq, I. (1998). Constructivism in teacher education: Considerations for those who would link practice to theory. ERIC Digest [Online]. Available: http://www.ed.gov/databases/ERIC_Digests/ed426986.html.
- Abrami, P.C., Chambers, B., Poulsen, C., De Simone, C., d'Appolonia, S. & Howden, J. (1995). Classroom connections: Understanding cooperative learning, Toronto, Ont. Harcourt Brace.
- Abrami, P.C., & Bures, E.M. (1996). Computer-supported collaborative learning and distance education. *The American Journal of Distance Education*, 10 (2). In R.M. Bernard (Ed.), *Organization & Development of Distance Education*, (pp. 333-350). Montreal; Concordia University.
- Abrami, P.C., Cholmsky, P., & Gordon, R. (2001). Statistical analysis for the social sciences: An interactive approach. Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Argyris, C. & Schon, D.A. (1974). Theory in practice: Increasing professional effectiveness. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Barnett, M., Harwood, W., Keating, T., & Saam, J. (2002). Using emerging technologies to help bridge the gap between university theory & classroom practice: Challenges & successes. School Science & Mathematics, 102(5), 299-313.
- Bernard, R.M. (2000). *Study guide: Technology for Educational Change*. Montreal: Concordia University.
- Bernard, R.M., & Lundgren-Cayrol, K. (2001). Computer conferencing: An environment for collaborative project-based learning in distance education. *Educational Research and Evaluation*, 7(2-3), 241-261.
- Bernard, R.M., Rojo de Rerbalcava, B., & St-Pierre, D. (2000). Collaborative online distance learning: Issues for future practice and research. *Distance Education*, 21 (2).
- Black, J.B., & McClintock, C.H. (1994). Assessing student understanding and learning in a constructivist study environment. Presented at the 1994 National Convention of the Association for Educational Communications and Technology.
- Brandon, D.P., & Hollingshead, A.B. (1999). Collaborative learning and computer supported groups. *Communications Education*, 48(2), 109-126. Retrieved May 5, 2001, from ProQuest database.
- Bruning, J.L. & Kintz, B.L. (1997). *Computational handbook of statistics*. New York: Longman.

- Cheng, W., & Warren, M. (2000). Making a difference: Using peers to assess individual student's contributions to a group project. *Teaching in Higher Education*, 5(2).
- Chui, M.M. (2000). Effects of status on solutions, leadership, and evaluations during problem solving. Sociology of Education, 73(3), 175-95.
- Cockrell, K.S., Hughes-Caplow, J.A., & Donaldson, J.F. (2000). A context for learning: Collaborative groups in problem-based learning environment. *The Review of Higher Education*, 23(3), 347-63.
- Clark, J.C. (2000) Collaboration tools in on-line learning environments. *Journal of Computer Mediated Communication*. Retrieved November 15, 2002, from http://www.aln.org/alnweb/magazine/Vol4_issue1/Clark.htm
- Creswell, J. W. (2002). Educational Research: Planning, Conducting, and Evaluating Ouantitative and Qualitative Research. Columbus, Ohio: Merill Prentice Hall.
- Dewey, J. (1987). How we think. Chicago: Henry Regnery.
- Duffy, T.M., & Cunningham, D.J. (1996). Constructivism: Implications for the design and delivery of instruction. In D.H. Jonassen (Ed.), *Handbook of research for educational communications and technology* (pp. 170-198). New York: Simon & Schuster MacMillan.
- Edelson, P.J. (2000). Virtual and face-to-face learning: Meeting points. Paper presented at La Formacion Virtual En El Nuevo Milenio, Madrid, Spain. Retrieved August 15, 2002 from http://www.sunysb.edu/spd/dean_papers/madrid.pdf.
- Feather, S. (1999). The impact of group support systems on collaborative learning groups' stages of development. *Information Technology, Learning, and Performance Journal*, 17(2), 23-34.
- Ferguson, P. (1989). A reflective approach to methods practicum. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 40(2), 36-41.
- Goby, V.P., & Lewis, J.H. (2000). Using experiential learning theory and the Myers-Briggs type indicator in teaching business communication. *Business Communication Quarterly*, 63(3), 39-48.
- Hiltz, R.S. (1998). Collaborative learning in networks: Building learning communities. *Proceedings from Web 98, Orlando, Florida*. Retrieved November, 2002 from http://eies.njit.edu/~hitlz/collaborative_learning_in_asynch.htm.

- Huxham, M., & Land, R. (2000). Assigning students in group work projects: Can we do better than random? *Innovations in Education and Training International*, 37(1), 17-22. Retrieved June, 2002 from http://cherubino.catchword.com/vl=2260568/cl=47/nw=1/rpsv/catchword/routledg/13558005/v37n1/s4/p17.
- Johnson, D.W., Johnson, R.T., & Smith, K.A. (1991). Cooperative learning: Increasing college faculty instructional productivity (ASHE-ERIC Higher Education Report No. 4). Washington, D.C.: The George Washington University School of education and Human Development.
- LeCompte, M.D, Millroy, W.L., & Preissle, J. (1992). The handbook of qualitative research in education. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Lowell, N.O., & Perschitte, K.A. (2000). A virtual ropes course: Creating on-line communities. Asynchronous Learning Network Magazine, 4(1).
- McEwen, L.A. (2001). Study Guide: EDUC 305 Technology for Educational Change. Montreal: Concordia University.
- McEwen, L.A. (2002). Exploring assessment of on-line collaboration in distance education: An action research study. Unpublished master's thesis, Concordia University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada.
- McWhaw, K. A., Schnackenberg, H., Sclater, J. & Abrami, P.C. (in press) From cooperation to collaboration: Helping students become collaborative learners. In R.Gillies & A. Ashman (Eds). Cooperative learning: The social and intellectual outcomes of learning in groups.
- Merriam, S.B. (2001). Qualitative research & case study applications in education. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Miles, M.B. (1990). New Methods for qualitative data collection and analysis: Vignettes and pre-structured cases. *Qualitative Studies in Education*, 3(1), 37-51.
- Moore, M.G. (1989). Three types of interaction. *The American Journal of Distance Education*, 3(2), 1-6.
- Phipps, R., & Merisotis, J. (1999). What's the difference?: A review of contemporary research on the effectiveness of distance learning in higher education. *The Institute for Higher Education Policy*.
- Risko, V.J., Vukelich, C., Roskos, K., & Carpenter, M. (2002). Preparing teachers for reflective practice: Intentions, contradictions and possibilities. *Language Arts*, 80(2), 134-144. Retrieved March 3, 2003, from ProQuest database.

- Schon, D.A. (1987). Educating the reflective practitioner: Toward a new design for teaching and learning in the professions. San Fransico: Jossey-Bass.
- Shulman, L. (1987). Knowledge and teaching: Foundations of the new reform. *Harvard Education Review*, 57(1), 1-22.
- Smith, P.L., & Dillon, C.L. (1999). Comparing distance learning and classroom learning: Conceptual considerations. *The American Journal of Distance Education*, 13(2).
- Sotillo, S.M. (2000). Discourse functions and syntactic complexity in synchronous and asynchronous communications. *Language Learning and Technology*, 4(1), 82-119.
- Tam, M. (2000). Constructivism, instructional design, and technology: Implications for transforming distance learning. *Educational Technology & Society*, 3(2), 50-60.
- Towns, M.H. (1998). How do I get my students to work together? Getting cooperative learning started. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 75 (1).
- Towns, M.H., Kreke, K., Sauder, D., Stout, R., et al. (1998). An assessment of a physical chemistry online activity. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 75 (12).
- Towns, M.H., Kreke, K., & Fields, A. (2000). An action research project: Student perspectives on small-group learning in chemistry. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 77(1), 111-5.
- Turoff, M. (1999). An end to student segregation: No more separation between distance learning and regular courses. Proceedings from the *Telelearning 99, Montreal*. *Quebec, Canada*. Retrieved March 3, 2003, from http://eies.njit.edu/~turoff/papers/canadapresentation/segregation.htm.
- Weasenforth, D., Biesenbach-Lucas, S., & Meloni, C. (2002). Realizing constructivistic objectives through collaborative technologies: Threaded discussions. *Language Learning and Technology*, 6(3), 58-86.
- Zeichner, C.M., & Liston, D.P. (1987). Teaching student teachers to reflect. *Harvard Education Review*, 57(1).

APPENDIX A:

Description of Research

From 2002 On-Site Study Guide

Researching Best Practices

As your careers as teachers begin, you will often hear colleagues saying (or may even find yourself saying) what a lonely profession teaching is and how you never really know how well you are doing. At the post-secondary level, learners fill out course evaluation forms to indicate to their teacher (as well as to the institution) where he/she has gone wrong and were his/her strong points are. Finding out what works and what doesn't, should not be reserved to such formal activities. As educators, we should be engaged in on-going review of our practices. In this course, you are encouraged to reflect on the course, your learning as a student and the potentials as an educator through your learning logs. As the instructor for this course, my reflections of best practice will be shown through your observations in your learning logs, reflection paper, discourse within the various course conferences and any other interaction we may be engaged in. Therefore, I encourage you to be honest and up front with your feelings and comments throughout the course. The course has evolved over the years (I would like to think for the better) because learners have been honest about what works and what doesn't. Seeing as our course, in many ways, is a unique one, and seeing as I am also sitting on your side of the desk ©, it is important to me that we share our experience with others. Therefore, at some point during the semester, I will be

posting a consent form to include our experiences in my research and thesis. You are by no means obligated to participate and I will not know who participates until after the final course grades are submitted. Your participation in this research will not have you complete any extra work outside from the course assignments. More detail about consenting to research will be posted in the course conference and discussed in class during the semester. If you have any questions and/or concerns about my research, you may contact me through FirstClass® or my thesis supervisor (Allyson Hadwin) through FirstClass®.

APPENDIX B:

Consent Form

Productivity in collaborative learning environments

I (Jennifer Sclater) am researching the factors that influence productivity and learners' self-reported levels of satisfaction in collaborative learning environments. This study will contribute to our understanding of computer mediated communication (CMC) course design and development. I will be evaluating the way in which learners feel most productive ("getting things done") in completing group work (face-to-face versus on-line).

My evaluation of productivity will be based on student interaction during collaborative activities (FirstClass® messages posted in the problems conference area), and student reflections (as expressed in individual learning journals and final reflection paper).

The information collected from the above sources will (a) inform future practices and course design for EDUC 305 (DE & A), (b) provide instructors and instructional designers with a better understanding of the potential uses of collaborative computer mediated communication in both a distance education and on-site environment, and (c) inform both myself and other instructional designers about learners' feelings and attitudes towards collaborative on-line learning. It is hoped this information will help instructors improve their integration of collaboration into their courses.

I am asking you to voluntarily take part in this study. If you agree to participate, rest assured that all information provided by you for the purposes of this research project will remain confidential.

What does consent mean?

Your participation is voluntary; you are under no obligation to take part in this study. You may choose to discontinue your participation at any time. If you decide to withdraw your consent prior to the end of the course, no information you have generated will be used in the study.

In the event that you decide to withdraw your consent after the course, or you feel uneasy about your participation in the research, I encourage you to contact me via email () or FirstClass® (Jennifer Sclater). Alternatively, you may contact my thesis supervisor via email or FirstClass® ().

Your participation will not involve additional work beyond the course requirements.

Prior to studying materials being released for research purposes, your assignment will be marked (as usual) by your instructor. The instructor will not know who has consented to participate until final grades have been submitted. Your participation in the research is completely voluntary however completion of the activity is a mandatory component of your course grade.

Data from this study may be published, however all information gathered for research will be labelled by a pseudonym so that your participation is entirely <u>confidential</u>. If you decide at any time that you do not want to continue participating, all information about you will be erased from the research files.

What data will be collected?

If you agree to participate, in this study the following three sources of data will be collected.

- a) Learner interaction in FirstClass® course and group conferences during collaborative activities.
- b) All material contained in your learning journal, including weekly reflections and answers to guiding questions, group meeting logs and self and peer assessment forms.
- c) Final individual reflection papers.

Who do I contact with concerns?

Once this information has been compiled, a brief summary of results and a complete explanation of the study will be provided upon request. I will also be pleased to discuss the results once my thesis is complete. Any questions or concerns you have with respect to this research should be addressed to Jennifer Sclater via e-mail or via FirstClass® (Jennifer Sclater) or my thesis supervisor via e-mail or FirstClass® ().

Student consent to participate in research

I agree to participate in research conducted by Jennifer Sclater in preparation for her master's thesis in Educational Technology.

I have read the above description and understand that my participation is completely voluntary and will have no bearing on my final grade for this course. Furthermore, I understand I may withdraw my participation at any point during the course of the study (as well as after the course has been completed) and that the researcher will not have access to my consent form until after the final grades have been submitted.

I freely consent and agree to participate in the collection of data for this research project.

I agree to participate. I do not agree to participate.				
Name (Please print clearly)				
Student ID				

APPENDIX C

Code Book

Theme	Code Name	Description	Assumption	Example
Technology (Process/Practice)	Experienced with various "tools"	- learner lists several different computer applications and other types of technology that he/she is familiar with.	Learners who are comfortable with technology may be more open-minded to on-line learning/collaborating on-line.	
	Little experience with various "tools"	- learner does not list many different computer applications or other types of technology that he/she is familiar with learner reports limited knowledge of computer technology.	Learners who are not comfortable with technology may be less open-minded and more apprehensive to on-line learning/collaborating on-line.	"I have not used many educational technologies thus far. " - Carley (only listed one tool) "I have always had a phobia about computers and now I have learned that there is nothing to be afraid of." - Carley
Technology (attitudes)	Value in using of technology.	- Reports benefits in using technology or reports feeling that technology is "a good thing".	Positive Interdependence – if the learners sees the value in using the technology they will be more likely to be more engaged in using it.	"I am a firm believer that each child learns in different manners, so I feel that technology simply offers teacher more resources to get them the support they need." - Amber

	Does not value using technology	- Reports unfavourable feelings towards using technology.	Positive Interdependance - if learners do not value the use of technology they will be less likely to use it.	"The major challenge that I had to overcome in order to make it to class was my dislike of computers. 19 I have always thought that the world would be a better place without computers. 20" - Bonnie
Collaboration (Process/Practice)	Disadvantages of collaborating on-line	- Describes elements or components of the on-line collaborative process that were less favourable	Learners will feel that there are some aspects of the collaborative process that are less favourable when collaborating within an on-line environment.	"However, there are disadvantage to this, it requires much more time on everyone's part. 1095 You don't always get a reply from the others' when you send a message. 1096 Communicating ideas to each other takes more time and you really have to discipline yourself to not communicate face-to-face. 1097 If your working on line all the time there's no growth in socializing with others and your more isolated. 1098 You will have difficulty in face-to face peer interaction." 1099 - Beatrice

	T 5 -	T	T=
Advantages of collaborating on-line	- Describes elements or components of the on-line collaborative process that were more favourable	Learners will feel that there are some aspects of the collaborative process that are more favourable when collaborating within an on-line environment.	There are advantages to collaborating on-line such as, you can send messages to your group and they can reply at any time (day or evening), you can keep track of who's participating and doing their share of the work. 1092 It is easier to assess your peers because it is visible to see how the other people in your group are putting effort into the project. 1093 Also, you stay more on topic and your less distracted." - Beatrice 1094
Disadvantage s of collaborating on-site/face- to-face	- Describes elements or components of the on-site collaborative process that were less favourable	Learners will feel that there are some aspects of the collaborative process that are less favourable when collaborating within an on-site environment.	The disadvantages are that it's easier to get distracted and talk off topic when face to face. 691 It's also harder to arrange a meeting time when everyone is free. 692 - Bonnie
Advantage of collaborating on-site/face-	- Describes elements or components	Learners will feel that there are some aspects of the	Face to face collaborative learning,

	to-face	of the on-site collaborative process that were more favourable	collaborative process that are more favourable when collaborating within an on-site environment.	advantages are that it's easier to carry a conversation. 688 You don't have to wait for the others to type their answers. 689 There is more of a social interaction when working face to face, you can see the others facial expressions and body language. 690 - Bonnie
Collaboration (Attitudes)	Values collaborative learning	- Reports benefits in using collaborative learning or reports feeling that collaborative learning is "a good thing".	Positive Interdependence - if the learners see the value in using collaborative learning they will be more likely engage in the process/activity.	" I learnt quickly that as a team we accomplished a good thing while alone I don't think I could have done it." - Amber
	Does not see value of collaborative learning	- Reports unfavourable feelings towards collaborative learning or working in groups	Positive Interdependence – if the learners do not see the value in using collaborative learning they will be more less likely engage in the process/activity.	"One reason why I'm not fond of working in groups is for this very aspect that not everyone does their share of the work." - Beatrice
Reflection (Process/Practice)	Demonstrates reflective practice.	- Reflects on own practice.	Learning style. A learner who engages in on-going reflective practices (consciously or unconsciously) can be characterized as being a reflective learner.	"I also realise that I thought I learned better face-to-face but, I think I learn better in various environments and I can adapt to any situation (I might panic at first about the

Reflection (Attitudes)	Values the reflective practice.	- Reports value in being engaged in the process of personal reflection.	Positive Interdependence – if the leaner sees the value in being in this type of activity, he/she will be more likely to engage in the process.	details) but, in the end I adapt and move on." - Beatrice "The wonderful thing about writing about what you are being challenged with or what your perceptions is on topics is that you are forced to STOP and think about the issues." 974 - Amber
	Does not see the value in reflective practice.	- Reports unfavourable feelings towards engaging in reflective practice.	Positive Interdependence – if the leaner does not sees the value in being in this type of activity, he/she will be less likely to engage in the process.	(new codeno one yet)
On-line learning (Attitudes)	Values on- line learning	- Reports value in learning in an on-line environment.	Positive Interdependence – if the leaner sees the value in being in this type of activity, he/she will be more likely to engage in the process.	
	Does not see value in on- line learning.	- Reports unfavourable feelings towards on- line learning.	Positive Interdependence – if the leaner does not sees the value in being in this type of activity, he/she will be less likely to engage in the process.	
Task Related (Process/practice)	Order of Activities	- Reports advantages and disadvantages of order of tasks.	Control for order effect.	I have been talking to my friends who have been doing it already and feel being the second groups around

 			
Successful group processing experiences	- Reports successful aspect of the group	Which aspects of the collaborative process did learners feel were most successful	we are at an advantage, because we can learn from their mistakes Amber were really organized in terms of completing our
experiences	processing.	within their group processing.	collaborative 2 activity. 983 We communicated well our ideas and the format of how we chose to do this assignment. 984 We were both open minded to each others ideas and as a result, we stayed positive and encouraged each other throughout the whole process; I think we did a well job.
Unsuccessful	- Reports	Which aspects of the collaborative process	985 - Beatrice When we were discussing how
group processing experiences.	aspects of the group processing that were less successful.	did learners feel were less successful within their group processing.	we would answer the questions I agreed partially but I didn't say anything because the other group members seemed to think what we were doing was alright. 713 If I could change

				anything I would have spoke up about the first group project Bonnie
Task Related (Attitudes)	Working within instructor assigned group.	- Reports advantages and disadvantages in working with strangers.	Positive Interdependence – if the leaner sees the value in being in this type of activity, he/she will be more likely to engage in the process.	The groups picked for us really helped, one was not put with friends from previous classes, This meant that we had to get to know each other through our workCarley